
 

 
 

Scan the code above or visit www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings 
for a full copy of the agenda. 

 

 

 

 
Meeting PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Time/Day/Date 6.00 pm on Wednesday, 11 January 2023 
 
Location Council Chamber, Council Offices, Coalville 
 
Officer to contact Democratic Services (01530 454529) 
 
 
 

 
AGENDA 

Item  Pages 

 
1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2.  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 

 Under the Code of Conduct members are reminded that in declaring interests 
you should make clear the nature of that interest and whether it is a 
disclosable pecuniary interest, registerable interest or other interest. 
 

 

3.  MINUTES  
 

 

 To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 30 November 2022. 
 

3 - 8 

4.  PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND OTHER MATTERS  
 

 

 Report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure. 
 

9 - 12 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings


Index of Applications to be Considered 
 

Item Application Number and Details  Recommendation Page 

 

 

A1  22/00691/REMM: Erection of a road related storage, maintenance 
and management facility and associated site works (reserved 
matters to outline planning permission ref. 17/01081/OUTM) 
(revised scheme) 
 
Flagstaff Island, Lountside, Ashby De La Zouch, LE65 1JP 
 

Permit 
 

13 - 26 

A2  21/02281/FULM: Part full/part outline planning application for the 
development of the site comprising site wide infrastructure works 
including access from (and alterations to) Grange Road, internal 
spine road, earthworks and development plateaus, structural 
landscaping, utilities infrastructure, foul and surface water 
drainage infrastructure (including attenuation pond and outlets). 
Full consent sought for the erection of 5 employment units 
(totalling 2,719 square metres) comprising light industry (Class 
E(g)(iii)), general industry (Class B2) and/or storage and 
distribution (Class B8) floorspace and ancillary offices (Class 
E(g)(i)), including associated service yards and service vehicle 
parking, vehicular and cycle parking, boundary treatments and 
retaining walls, utilities infrastructure, foul and surface water 
drainage infrastructure and hard/soft landscaping. Outline consent 
(with all matters reserved except vehicular access from Grange 
Road and re-grading of site) sought for up 
4,000 square metres of floorspace for light industry (Class E(g)(iii)), 
general industry (Class B2) and/or storage and distribution (Class 
B8) employment floorspace and ancillary offices (Class E(g)(i)) and 
associated development including service yards and parking, plant, 
hard and soft landscaping (including boundary treatments and 
retaining walls), and drainage infrastructure and other associated 
infrastructure  
  
Land West of Regs Way, Bardon  
 

Permit subject to 
S106 Agreement 
 

27 - 84 

 
  
 



154 
 

Chairman’s initials 

MINUTES of a meeting of the PLANNING Committee held in the Council Chamber, Council 
Offices, Coalville on WEDNESDAY, 30 November 2022  
 
Present:  Councillor R L Morris (Chairman) 
 
Councillors R Boam, D Bigby, D Everitt, D Harrison, J Hoult, J Legrys, J G Simmons, M B Wyatt 
and K Merrie MBE  
 
Officers:  Mr C Elston, Mr D Jones, Mr S James, Ms R Haynes, Mrs R Wallace, Mr J Arnold, 
Mr A Mellor and Mr C Unwin-Williams 
 

34. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies were received from Councillor J Bridges for whom Councillor E Allman acted as 
substitute. 
 

35. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
In accordance with the Code of Conduct, Members declared the following interests: 
 
Councillors R Morris and R Boam declared a non pecuniary interest in item A2. 
 
Councillor M Wyatt declared a non pecuniary interest in item A2 as he had been in 
communication with the applicant over an unrelated matter as a member of the Coalville 
Special Expenses Working Party. 
 
Councillor D Harrison declared a non pecuniary interest in item A1 as a member of 
Leicestershire County Council. 
 
The following members declared that they had been lobbied without influence in respect 
of the following applications but had come to the meeting with an open mind: 

 
Councillor J Legrys on items A1 and A2. 
 
Councillors J Hoult, J Simmons, D Bigby, E Allman on item A2. 
 

36. MINUTES 
 
Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting held on 1 November 2022. 

 
It was moved by Councillor J Legrys, seconded by Councillor J Hoult and  

 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 1 November 2022 be approved and signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record. 
 

37. PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND OTHER MATTERS 
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure, as 
amended by the update sheet circulated at the meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

3

Agenda Item 3.



155 
 

Chairman’s initials 

38.  A1 
22/01140/VCIM: ERECTION OF UP TO 400 DWELLINGS WITH ASSOCIATED ROADS 
AND SERVICE INFRASTRUCTURE, DRAINAGE PONDS, LANDSCAPING AND OPEN 
SPACES (OUTLINE- ALL MATTERS OTHER THAN PART ACCESS RESERVED) 
APPROVED UNDER PLANNING PERMISSION 16/01200/VCUM WITHOUT 
COMPLYING WITH CONDITION NUMBERS 4, 7, 9, 10, 15, 17, 27 AND 28, SO AS TO 
ALLOW FOR A MAXIMUM OF 150 DWELLINGS TO BE ACCESSED VIA HIGHFIELD 
STREET, AN AMENDED ACCESS DESIGN TO HIGHFIELD STREET, AMENDMENTS 
TO PROPOSED CULVERTS, NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE FOR 
SUSTAINABLE HOMES, AND REMOVAL OF THE REQUIREMENT TO SUBMIT A 
DESIGN CODE 
Land North Of Standard Hill And West Of Highfield Street Hugglescote Coalville LE67 
3BP 
Officer’s Recommendation: PERMIT, subject to a Section 106 agreement: 
 
The Planning Officer presented the report and provided some background into the 
application, highlighting that the application in its current form sought to vary some 
conditions and remove others. It was noted that the most contentious issue was that of 
Condition 17, which restricted Highfield Street to only being serviced by 100 dwellings 
which was being varied to serve 150 dwellings. 
 
Mr Thorley, Land and Planning Director of Jelson Ltd was invited to come forward and 
made his representations. The meeting was informed that the developers had sought to 
make a number of changes, to include the removal of the vehicle link between the two 
main parts of the site, which would protect the brook corridor. The developer had also 
offered parking spaces to most of the properties affected on Highfield Street in a bid to 
alleviate potential problems caused by on road parking and the associated traffic issues. 
 
Councillor J Geary, ward member, made his representations and highlighted concerns 
around the extra traffic which would need to exit the site via Highfield Street. Councillor J 
Geary questioned the efficacy and accuracy of the traffic count and also noted the report’s 
reference to “the narrow nature of Highfield Street”. With regard to existing homes on 
Highfield Street which would be provided parking should the development be approved, it 
was asserted that this would be at a financial cost to residents which would not 
necessarily be possible for all given the current economic climate. Councillor J Geary 
suggested that this application be declined or deferred for further consideration. 
 
Officers responded and clarified that in terms of transport work, previous survey data was 
considered and confirmed that this would have taken into account a period of time when 
road works were being carried out and the road was closed. The Planning and 
Development Team Manager clarified that the reserve matter scheme and access to the 
dwellings on the road frontage was not for consideration as part of this application.  
 
A member enquired whether an adequate traffic count had been undertaken, whether this 
had been done correctly and if it had been considered by Leicestershire County Council. 
Officers confirmed that this was the case and that during traffic surveys, there had been 
no restrictions on the road. It was clarified that the traffic count had been from a 2018 
report which had been updated using modelling technology. 
 
A motion to permit the application in accordance with the officer’s recommendation was 
moved by Councillor D Harrison and seconded by Councillor R Boam. 
 
The Chairman put the motion to the vote. A recorded vote being required, the voting was 
as detailed below. 
 
 
 

4



156 
 

Chairman’s initials 

RESOLVED THAT:  
 
The application be permitted in accordance with the recommendation of the Head of 
Planning and Infrastructure. 
 
 

Motion to permit application in accordance with the officer recommendations 
(Motion) 

Councillor Ray Morris For 

Councillor Russell Boam For 

Councillor Dave Bigby Against 

Councillor David Everitt Against 

Councillor Dan Harrison For 

Councillor Jim Hoult For 

Councillor John Legrys Against 

Councillor Jenny Simmons For 

Councillor Michael Wyatt Against 

Councillor Elliott Allman Against 

Councillor Robert Ashman No vote recorded 

Councillor Keith Merrie MBE No vote recorded 

Councillor Ray Morris For (Casting Vote) 

Carried 

 

39.  A2 
22/01126/OUT: ERECTION OF A BUILDING TO INCLUDE 1 NO. UNIT OF TOURIST 
ACCOMMODATION AND ANCILLARY USES AND THE ERECTION OF 3 NO. LODGES 
TO BE USED FOR TOURIST ACCOMMODATION (OUTLINE, ACCESS ONLY) 
Roseville Outwoods Lane Coleorton Coalville Leicestershire LE67 8PA 
Officer’s Recommendation: PERMIT 
 
As Councillors R Morris and R Boam had declared an interest in this item, nominations 
were made for Chair. Councillor E Allman was nominated as Chair, it was moved by 
Councillor R Boam and seconded by Councillor D Harrison. Councillors R Morris and R 
Boam stepped away from the committee. 
 
Councillor R Ashman was called upon to join the committee in his capacity as substitute 
and noted that he had been lobbied on this item but had come to the meeting with an 
open mind. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer presented the application, and outlined the proposal to erect 
four buildings for the purpose of tourist accommodation. 
 
Mr C Jones, Chair of Worthington Parish Council, was invited to make his representations 
and voiced the support of the Parish Council for local residents who had opposed the 
plans. The “significant amount” of objections was noted and it was iterated that the 
development was outside the limits of development. 
 
Mr C Jones asserted that the Parish Council and local residents who had objected, felt 
that this development would have an adverse impact  in terms of invasion of privacy and 
the potential for noise nuisance and believed that there would be no benefit to the 
community or local businesses should the application be approved. 
 
Mr S Haggart, objector, was invited to speak and wished to highlight that the proposed 
development would be in close proximity to neighbouring properties and as they would be 
at an elevated height, felt that this would encroach on the privacy of local homeowners, 
giving a direct view into their properties. It was also asserted that harm would be caused 
to the countryside. 

5



157 
 

Chairman’s initials 

Mr Haggart suggested that there would be no benefits to local businesses or the 
community and that the development did not require a countryside location, and should 
therefore not be permitted outside the limits of development. 
 
Mr J Mattley, Agent, was invited to speak. Mr Mattley informed the committee that the 
development would be a high quality proposal and that there had been no other objections 
received from statutory consultees. He advised the committee that the Local Plan lists 
tourism accommodation as acceptable use within the countryside. Mr Mattley added that 
now proposals had been revised and the development would be situated at the rear of the 
site, this would render it barely visible to the surrounding area, that it would be a 
sustainable development and that Leicestershire County Council had found the proposal 
to be acceptable. 
 
Councillor R Morris, Ward Member was invited to speak. Councillor Morris urged 
members to reject this application and argued that there had been an absence of 
topographical information, which would have indicated that the land is 4m above the 
surface level of the highway and would be 7m above the adjacent highway and 
neighbouring properties. It was suggested that the nature of holiday lodges would lead to 
parties, barbecues and hot tubs, all of which could potentially cause a noise nuisance to 
local residents. Members were reminded of a meeting earlier in 2022 which had dealt with 
the problems faced by residential properties being interspersed with holiday lets, causing 
distress to permanent residents. Councillor Morris also suggested that should the 
development be approved, it would cause harm to the character of the rural appearance 
of the site and surrounding area. 
 
Officers responded that it would be permissible to allow development outside of 
development limits in some circumstances, and also refuted claims that it would not be a 
“tourist area”, reminding the meeting that this site is situated within the National Forest, a 
recognised tourist location. 
 
Officers reminded the committee that all schemes do not have to meet all three strands of 
sustainable development. 
 
A member enquired as to why limits to development are set but then development is 
permitted within this. Officers responded that the Local Plan allows for developments to be 
sited outside of development limits, for example should they be for agricultural or tourism 
purposes. 
 
A member raised concerns that such a development as had been proposed would not be 
suitable amongst residential homes. 
 
A member enquired that if the committee were to vote against this application what types 
of consideration would constitute strong, potential grounds for refusal but officers advised 
it would be for members to decide upon the reasons for which they felt it would be 
unacceptable. 
 
A number of reasons for refusal were discussed, which included limits to development, 
light and noise pollution and waste removal or vehicular access, however officers advised 
that these would not be sufficient grounds for refusal. 
 
Most members agreed that the location and consequent  detrimental visual impact of the 
proposed development, would be strong objections as per the previous reason for refusal. 
 
A motion to refuse the application on the grounds stated above was made by Councillor J 
Hoult and seconded by Councillor J Legrys . 
 

6



158 
 

Chairman’s initials 

The Chairman put the motion to the vote. A recorded vote being required, the voting was 
as detailed below. 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The application be refused on the grounds that the proposal would be detrimental to the 
character and rural appearance of the area and would represent an unwarranted and 
incongruous intrusion into the countryside.  
 

Motion to refuse on the grounds of visual impact and location (Motion) 

Councillor Ray Morris No vote recorded 

Councillor Russell Boam No vote recorded 

Councillor Dave Bigby For 

Councillor David Everitt For 

Councillor Dan Harrison For 

Councillor Jim Hoult For 

Councillor John Legrys For 

Councillor Jenny Simmons For 

Councillor Michael Wyatt For 

Councillor Elliott Allman For 

Councillor Robert Ashman Against 

Councillor Keith Merrie MBE No vote recorded 

Carried 

 
The meeting commenced at 6.00 pm 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 7.25 pm 
 

 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure 
to Planning Committee 

11 January 2023 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT REPORT 

9

Agenda Item 4.



 

PLANNING COMMITTEE FRONT SHEET 
 
 
1. Background Papers 
 
For the purposes of Section 100(d) of the Local Government ( Access to information Act) 
1985 all consultation replies listed in this report along with the application documents and 
any accompanying letters or reports submitted by the applicant, constitute Background 
Papers which are available for inspection, unless such documents contain Exempt 
Information as defined in the act. 
 
2. Late Information: Updates 
 
Any information relevant to the determination of any application presented for determination 
in this Report, which is not available at the time of printing, will be reported in summarised 
form on the 'UPDATE SHEET' which will be distributed at the meeting.  Any documents 
distributed at the meeting will be made available for inspection.  Where there are any 
changes to draft conditions or a s106 TCPA 1990 obligation proposed in the update sheet 
these will be deemed to be incorporated in the proposed recommendation. 
 
3. Expiry of Representation Periods 
 
In cases where recommendations are headed "Subject to no contrary representations being 
received by ..... [date]" decision notices will not be issued where representations are 
received within the specified time period which, in the opinion of the Head of Planning and 
Infrastructure are material planning considerations and relate to matters not previously 
raised. 
 
4. Reasons for Grant  
 
Where the Head of Planning and Infrastructure report recommends a grant of planning 
permission and a resolution to grant permission is made, the summary grounds for approval 
and summary of policies and proposals in the development plan are approved as set out in 
the report.  Where the Planning Committee are of a different view they may resolve to add or 
amend the reasons or substitute their own reasons.  If such a resolution is made the Chair of 
the Planning Committee will invite the planning officer and legal advisor to advise on the 
amended proposals before the a resolution is finalised and voted on.  The reasons shall be 
minuted, and the wording of the reasons, any relevant summary policies and proposals, any 
amended or additional conditions and/or the wording of such conditions, and the decision 
notice, is delegated to the Head of Planning and Infrastructure. 
 
5. Granting permission contrary to Officer Recommendation  
 
Where the Head of Planning and Infrastructure report recommends refusal, and the Planning 
Committee are considering granting planning permission, the summary  reasons for granting 
planning permission, a summary of the relevant policies and proposals, and whether the 
permission should be subject to conditions and/or an obligation under S106 of the TCPA 
1990 must also be determined; Members will consider the recommended reasons for 
refusal, and then the summary reasons for granting the permission. The  Chair will invite  a 
Planning Officer to advise on the reasons and  the other matters.  An adjournment of the 
meeting may be necessary for the Planning Officer and legal Advisor to consider the advice 
required 
  

10



 

If The Planning Officer is unable to advise at Members at that meeting, he may recommend 
the item is deferred until further information or advice is available. This is likely if there are 
technical objections, eg. from the Highways Authority, Severn Trent, the Environment 
Agency, or other Statutory consultees.  
 
If the summary grounds for approval and the relevant policies and proposals are approved 
by resolution of Planning Committee, the wording of the decision notice, and conditions and 
the Heads of Terms of any S106 obligation, is delegated to the Head of Planning and 
Infrastructure. 
 
6 Refusal contrary to officer recommendation 
 
Where members are minded to decide to refuse an application contrary to the 
recommendation printed in the report, or to include additional reasons for refusal where the 
recommendation is to refuse, the Chair will invite the Planning Officer to advise on the 
proposed reasons and the prospects of successfully defending the decision on Appeal, 
including the possibility of an award of costs. This is in accordance with the Local Planning 
Code of Conduct.  The wording of the reasons or additional reasons for refusal, and the 
decision notice as the case is delegated to the Head of Planning and Infrastructure. 
 
7 Amendments to Motion 
 
An amendment must be relevant to the motion and may: 

1. Leave out words 
2. Leave out words and insert or add others 
3. Insert or add words 

as long as the effect is not to negate the motion 
 
If the amendment/s makes the planning permission incapable of implementation then the 
effect is to negate the motion. 
 
If the effect of any amendment is not immediately apparent the Chairman will take advice 
from the Legal Advisor and Head of Planning and Infrastructure/Planning and Development 
Team Manager present at the meeting. That advice may be sought during the course of the 
meeting or where the Officers require time to consult, the Chairman may adjourn the 
meeting for a short period. 
 
Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No further amendment 
may be moved until the amendment under discussion has been disposed of. The 
amendment must be put to the vote. 
 
If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may be moved. 
 
If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the original motion. 
This becomes the substantive motion to which any further amendments are moved. 
 
After an amendment has been carried, the Chairman will read out the amended motion 
before accepting any further amendment, or if there are none, put it to the vote. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11



 

8 Delegation of wording of Conditions 
 
A list of the proposed planning conditions are included in the report. The final 
wording of the conditions, or any new or amended conditions, is delegated 
to the Head of Planning and Infrastructure. 
 
9 Decisions on Items of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure  
 
The Chairman will call each item in the report.  No vote will be taken at that stage unless a 
proposition is put to alter or amend the printed recommendation.  Where a proposition is put 
and a vote taken the item will be decided in accordance with that vote.  In the case of a tie 
where no casting vote is exercised the item will be regarded as undetermined. 
 

12



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
Erection of a road related storage, maintenance and 
management facility and associated site works (reserved 
matters to outline planning permission ref. 17/01081/OUTM) 
(revised scheme) 

 Report Item No  
A1  

 

Flagstaff Island  Lountside Ashby De La Zouch Leicestershire 
LE65 1JP  

Application Reference  
22/00691/REMM  

 
Grid Reference (E) 437495 
Grid Reference (N) 317235 
 
Applicant: 
EG Group 
 
Case Officer: 
Donnella Wood 
 
Recommendation: 
PERMIT  
 

Date Registered:  
22 April 2022 

Consultation Expiry: 
8 December 2022 

8 Week Date: 
22 July 2022 

Extension of Time: 
13 January 2023 

 
Site Location - Plan for indicative purposes only   

 
     

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office 
copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Licence LA 100019329) 

 
 

 

13

Agenda Item A1



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION- PERMIT, subject to the following conditions 
 
1 Compliance with outline planning permission 
 
2 Approved plans 
 
3 Materials 
 
4 Landscaping 
 
5 Tree/hedgerow protection 
 
6 Hard surfacing 
 
7 Levels 
 
8 Boundary treatment 
 
9 Retaining walls/structures 
 
10 Site accesses/visibility splays 
 
11 Parking/manoeuvring areas 
 
12 Cycle parking 
 
13 External lighting 
 
14 Environmental performance 
 
15 Details of vehicular crossing to drainage ditch 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

14



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

MAIN REPORT 
 
1. Proposals and Background  
 
The application is returning to the Planning Committee after it was deferred at the 1st November 
2022 Committee to allow for the applicant to submit additional information in relation to an 
updated Swept Path Analysis and a street scene drawing with levels details to allow for easier 
comparisons to the adjacent development. 
 
 
Swept Path analysis 
 
Since the early November Committee meeting, the applicant has gone away and updated his 
swept path analysis plan to make it easier for the committee to see that a heavy goods vehicle 
can access and turn safely within the site.  
 
The Leicestershire County Council Highways Authority (LHA) were reconsulted on the newly 
submitted plan and have confirmed as previously advised, in its view, the impacts of the 
development on highway safety would not be unacceptable, and when considered cumulatively 
with other developments, the impacts on the road network would not be severe. As such, they 
did not raise any additional issued and have confirmed again that they have no objections to the 
development subject to conditions relating to site accesses/visibility splays and 
parking/manoeuvring areas. Given these conditions were previously requested by highways and 
therefore formed part of the recommended conditions list, there are no changes to the proposed 
recommended highways conditions for the development. 
 
Street Scene 
 
Following the comments made at the 1st of November meeting, the applicant has submitted 
details of the finished floor levels of the building and also a street scene plan showing the land 
levels and the height of the proposed building in comparison to the other surrounding structures 
and the proposed new landscaping screen for the site. It is considered as previously weighed 
and as set out within the full report within the Appearance, Layout and Scale section that the 
proposal would be acceptable, and the additional drawing would not alter the concluding Officer 
observations in that regard.  
 
The new drawing shows the hotel is approximately 5m higher than the proposed unit due to it 
being sited on a higher ground level with the proposed landscaping being slightly shorter in 
height than the proposed building. The Planning Inspector mentioned specifically the 
relationship of the building that was previously refused permission on this site with the buildings 
on the adjacent petrol station site, and in particular the HGV petrol forecourt canopy. The 
applicant has provided this detail and it shows that the proposed building is sited at a higher 
land level which is 2m higher than the adjacent petrol station canopy. The proposed building will 
therefore be about 2.5m higher than the adjacent HGV petrol forecourt canopy, but due to the 
separation distance between them, it is not considered that the proposed building will have a 
dominating effect and will not be out of keeping with the existing visual appearance of the site 
and its surroundings.  
 
 
During the reconsultation period two of the initial objectors to the scheme submitted additional 
representations. One solely submitted a mock-up of the proposal, which is not to scale and as 
such, Officers cannot verify the accuracy of the representation and weight cannot be afforded to 

15



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

the mock-up given the scaled plans submitted by the applicant. Another letter of representations 
reaffirmed concerns already raised during previous communications, as such, it isn't considered 
further assessment of the additional representations is required over and above that as detailed 
within the Officer report. However, all responses from third parties should be viewed in full via 
the Council website.  
 
Given the above, the Officer recommendation for the proposal remains the same and there are 
no changes to the proposed recommended conditions for the development. 
 
Please see below the original report as presented to the November Committee. 
 
The application is brought to the Planning Committee as it was called in on design grounds 
following the refusal by Committee members of the previously submitted scheme 
21/00471/REMM and the subsequent loss of appeal by the applicant. 
 
This is a reserved matters application for the erection of a unit on a site of 2.4ha for use as a 
road related storage, maintenance and management facility and associated site works 
(reserved matters to outline planning permission ref. 17/01081/OUTM) at Flagstaff Island, 
Lountside, Ashby De La Zouch.  
 
The application seeks reserved matters approval for the matters of access, appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale.  
 
Following the completion of a Section 106 obligation (in respect of a number of matters 
including employee travel packs and bus passes, bus stop improvements, implementation of 
waiting restrictions, construction traffic, River Mease contributions and National Forest planting), 
outline planning permission was granted in August 2019 (ref. 17/01081/OUTM).  
 
This reserved matters application seeks approval for a unit of approximate dimensions 150m 
length x 40m width with a maximum height of 8.2m above finished floor level (FFL).   
 
The proposed unit would include a service yard to the north eastern part of the site which would 
incorporate HGV parking. To the south western part of the site a car park is proposed. 
 
Two vehicular accesses are proposed, the service yard would be served from Lountside and the 
car park would be served from Lountside and the existing estate road accessed via the adjacent 
completed first phase.  
 
The application site is located outside the defined Limits to Development and is within the River 
Mease Special area of Conservation. 
 
The previously submitted scheme 21/00471/REMM was refused by the Planning Inspectorate 
Inspector who raised the following; 
 
The adjacent petrol filling station canopies sit considerably closer to the boundary with 
Nottingham Road than the unit proposed. There is established tree planting which would help to 
screen the unit from Nottingham Road. Nonetheless, in comparison to the building proposed, 
the canopies read as lightweight structures due to their open sided construction and, on the 
basis of the information before me, the unit would be taller than the canopies. The building 
would be highly visible from the roads associated with the services. The proposed west 
elevation would be directly adjacent to the estate road and due to its siting would be particularly 
prominent when viewed from public vantage points. 

16



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
The existing buildings within the road-related services area do not read as dominant buildings 
because of their scale, design, siting and use of materials. In contrast, the scheme would result 
in a dominant building which would fail to respect the character of the existing development 
within the services area. This is by virtue of the proposed building's height, scale, massing, 
siting and design with limited architectural features particularly to the prominent west elevation. 
Furthermore, due to the limited gap between the unit and the road, it would not be possible to 
introduce any meaningful landscape to mitigate the impact of the proposed west elevation. 
Consequently, the scheme would be out of keeping with the existing development within the 
road-related services area and would not positively respond to the site's context. 
 
For these reasons, the proposed development would be visually harmful to the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area. 
 
The full text of the appeal decision can be seen in appendix 1 to this report. 
 
The previous scheme would have resulted in a much taller and more dominant building with a 
height of 10.3m, an overly large service yard, unsubstantial landscaping and a siting which 
would have ensured significant prominence when viewed from the public realm. 
 
As a result of the amended scheme, the height of the building has been reduced from 10.3m to 
8.2m which is lower than adjacent canopies and the siting of the building has been re-orientated 
to reduce its prominence from public vantage points. Furthermore, the amended scheme now 
features a substantially reduced service yard and a significant amount of landscaping is now 
proposed which would further screen the proposal reducing the dominance of the scheme within 
the public realm and addressing the issues raised by the Inspector when considering the 
appeal. 
 
Recent Planning History 
06/00235/OUT Erection of road related service facilities (outline including details of access) 
PER 12.10.2006 
06/00573/ADC Retention of one no. externally illuminated freestanding sign PER 10.08.2006 
08/01437/ADC Display of 1 No. Pole Advertisement Sign (illuminated sign) INV  
08/01522/ADC Display of pole mounted sign (Advertisement Consent Application) WDN 
26.03.2009 
16/00216/FULM Erection of road related facilities - including petrol filling, service station, 
restaurant, cafe and formation of petrol forecourts, aprons and parking areas PER 14.06.2017 
17/01081/OUTM Erection of a road related storage, maintenance and management facility (use 
classes B1 and B8) and associated site works (outline - all matters reserved) PER 02.08.2019 
18/00230/ADC Display of one internally illuminated totem sign PER 15.05.2018 
18/00622/NMA Non-material amendment to planning permission 16/00216/FULM to increase 
the footprint of the building and amend the design of the building PER 23.05.2018 
21/00471/REMM Erection of a road related storage, maintenance and management facility and 
associated site works (reserved matters to outline planning permission ref. 17/01081/OUTM) 
REF 04.11.2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

2.  Publicity 
 
17 neighbours notified. 
Site Notice displayed 27 April 2022 
Press Notice published Leicester Mercury 4 May 2022 
 
 
3. Summary of Consultations and Representations Received 
 
Statutory Consultees 
 
Ashby de la Zouch Town Council objects on the following grounds: 
 
- Will cause disruption and deter visitors from the town 
- Proposal is too large for the location 
- Noise, air and light pollution 
- Highways concerns 
- Harm to the River Mease - assessments are required and no capacity is available 
- Contrary to Local Plan policies as the proposals are not a road related services facility, 
contrary to Policy T4b (a reference to the former policy for the site within the previous North 
West Leicestershire Local Plan), and as the site is allocated as countryside, not employment 
land. 
 
Leicestershire County Council Highways - No objection subject to the imposition of 
comments. 
 
Leicestershire County Council Lead Local Flood Authority - No objection. 
 
NWLDC Environmental Protection - Stated 'no information submitted for Environmental 
Protection consideration hence, no comments'.  
 
NWLDC Tree Officer - No objection. 
 
NWLDC Urban Designer - No objection. 
 
The National Forest Company - No objection. 
 
Natural England - No objection. 
 
National Grid - No response at the time of the report. 
 
Severn Trent - No response at the time of the report. 
 
Third Party Letters of Representation 
 
5 neighbouring dwellings and businesses objected to the proposal raising the following; 
 
- Merits of the application 
- Highways concerns 
- Contravenes development plan 
- Land area too small for the proposal 
- Ugly design 

18



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

- Overly dominant 
- Little changed from the previously refused application 
- Pedestrians struggle to cross the road due to already bad waiting times 
- Application type not suitable 
- Site does not have sustainable transport routes 
- High pressure gas pipeline running under the application site 
- Proposal not road related 
- Land designated as open countryside 
 -Inadequate surface water drainage 
- Overloading of the Packington sewerage plant 
- Great Crested Newts within the site 
- 24 hour noise 
- Light pollution 
- Exhaust pollution and disturbance 
- Air quality concerns 
- Mixing extra HGV traffic with the A42 Services passenger cars and pedestrians 
- Oil pollution 
- Impacts on the River Mease 
- Hydrocarbon pollutants 
- Ecological harm 
- Fire hazard 
- Flooding concerns 
- Residents and consultees were not consulted on the 2019 application 
- EIA should have been independent 
- Officer errors from previous applications 
- Harm to public health 
- Potential for storage of toxic materials 
- Size of building larger than stated during outline 
- Harmful to local businesses 
- Absence of adequate technical assessments in respects of noise, air quality and lighting 
- Insufficient detail regarding the proposed diversion of a gas main directly towards the hotel 
- Inconsistencies between the drawing pack and supporting statements 
- Inadequate parking provision 
- Potentially inadequate service yard including capacity, turning circles for HGVs and potential 
for queueing onto Lountside 
- Insufficient or inappropriate detail regarding site operations, security and management 
 
All responses from statutory consultees and third parties are available to view via the Council 
website. 
 
Only comments which raise material planning issues can be taken into account. For the 
avoidance of doubt material considerations for this site relate to impact on the character of the 
area, scale/ design, layout, landscaping and access. Matters relating to the granted outline 
application, nor considerations which would have been considered as part of the outline 
application such as the principle of the development, neighbour amenity, impacts on the SAC, 
impacts on the wider highways network, environmental impacts and ecological issues are not 
material planning considerations for this application. 
 
 
 
 
 

19



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

4. Relevant Planning Policy 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government's planning policies 
for England and how these are expected to be applied. 
 
The following sections of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) are considered 
relevant to the determination of this application: 
 
Paragraphs 8, 11 and 12 (Achieving sustainable development) 
Paragraphs 47, 55 and 56 (Decision-making) 
Paragraphs 109, 110, 111 and 112 (Promoting sustainable transport) 
Paragraphs 126, 130 and 134 (Achieving well-designed places) 
Paragraphs 153, 154 and 157 (Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change) 
 
Further advice is provided within the DLUHC's Planning Practice Guidance. 
 
Adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan (2021) 
The North West Leicestershire Local Plan forms the development plan and the following policies 
of the Local Plan are relevant to the determination of the application: 
 
S3 - (Countryside) 
D1- (Design of New Development) 
D2- (Amenity) 
IF4- (Transport Infrastructure and New Development) 
IF7- (Parking Provision and New Development) 
En1- (Nature Conservation) 
En2- (River Mease Special Area of Conservation) 
En3 - (The National Forest) 
En6 - (Land and Air Quality) 
Cc3- (Sustainable Drainage Systems) 
 
Adopted Ashby Neighbourhood Plan (2018) 
The Ashby Neighbourhood Plan forms part of the development plan and the following policies of 
the Neighbourhood Plan are relevant to the determination of the application: 
 
Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development 
Policy S3 - Development Proposals Outside of the Limits to Development 
Policy S4 - Design 
Policy NE5 - Trees and Hedgerows  
 
Other Guidance 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (the 'Habitats Regulations'). 
Circular 06/05 (Biodiversity and Geological Conservation - Statutory Obligations and Their 
Impact Within The Planning System. 
River Mease Water Quality Management Plan - August 2011. 
The River Mease Developer Contributions Scheme (DCS1 & 2)  
Natural England - Advice for development proposals with the potential to affect water quality 
resulting in adverse nutrient impacts on habitats sites - March 2021. 
Leicestershire Highways Design Guide (Leicestershire County Council). 
Planning Practice Guidance. 

20



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

National Design Guide - October 2019. 
Good Design for North West Leicestershire SPD. 
 
 
5. Assessment 
 
Principle of Development 
The principle of development on this site for the proposed use was established by the grant of 
the original outline planning permission (17/01081/OUTM) and, as a submission for reserved 
matters approval, the present application essentially seeks agreement of details in respect of 
the access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale. Assessment of this application should 
therefore relate to the implications of the particular scheme proposed under this reserved 
matters application; issues relating to the principle of the development and associated issues 
(e.g. the impacts on the wider highway network and matters relating to the sustainability of the 
development) are not relevant to this application.  
 
Insofar as the proposed reserved matters applied for are concerned, the following conclusions 
are reached:  
 
Appearance, Layout and Scale 
Whilst the site is located outside Limits to Development, as set out above, the principle of the 
development has already been established under the outline planning permission. However, 
Policies S3 of both the adopted Local and Neighbourhood Plans include criteria relating to the 
detailed design associated with development within the countryside. In terms of matters relevant 
at the reserved matters stage, Local Plan Policy S3 provides that developments will be 
supported where the appearance and character of the landscape is safeguarded and enhanced, 
and where built development is well integrated with existing development and existing buildings; 
Neighbourhood Plan Policy S3 requires development to respect the form, scale, character and 
amenity of the landscape and the surrounding area through careful siting, design and use of 
materials. Similarly, the scheme will also need to be considered against the design policies 
referred to above. 
 
The scale of the proposed unit is as set out in the introduction above. Insofar as the height of 
the unit is concerned, it is noted that the supporting information submitted with the outline 
application indicated that the unit would be between one and two storeys in height, and between 
5.0m and 8.5m. As set out above, the maximum height of the unit would be 8.2m above FFL 
which would be within the limits as indicated at outline stage. By way of comparison with 
surrounding development, the closest section of the existing hotel is approximately 9.6m to 
ridge (above FFL), and the existing filling station canopies (for cars and HGV sections 
respectively) are 6.5m and 7.5m above ground level. Whilst details of proposed floor and 
external ground levels are not yet available (and would be able to be addressed by way of an 
appropriate condition), existing site levels for that part of the site where the unit would be 
erected are (generally) at a similar level (and, in places, approximately 1m above) those of the 
filling station, and approximately 3 to 4m below those of the hotel's FFL. 
 
The site is currently well screened from Nottingham Road by established tree planting and 
additional planting to further screen the development is proposed. Whilst the proposed unit 
would be taller than the adjacent filling station canopies (which are considered to be well 
screened by the existing vegetation), it is noted that the unit would be sited approximately 55m 
from the site boundary (compared to only around 16m in the case of the adjacent petrol station) 
and, as such, the visibility of the unit beyond the trees would be likely to be limited to some 
extent from street level on Nottingham Road. 

21



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
In terms of the size of the unit generally, it is noted that this complies with the maximum 
floorspace specified in the outline planning permission. 
 
With regard to the design of the unit, officers have sought to engage with the applicants so as to 
secure improvements to the proposed elevations. In particular, the Urban Designer whilst 
complimenting the proposal over the previously submitted scheme as sitting comfortably within 
the plot and the reduction in the size of the service yard, did advise that the elevations appeared 
unnecessarily complicated offering advice to offset this. Following the receipt of amended plans, 
it is considered the elevations now offer a greater simplicity and palette for such a scheme and it 
is accepted that it would represent a significant enhancement over and above the originally 
submitted scheme offering a good standard of design, in accordance with the relevant Local 
Plan, Neighbourhood Plan and SPD policies. 
 
Additionally, whilst the unit incorporates car parking to its principal public realm-facing frontage, 
it is acknowledged that it would be set behind a substantial landscaped area, and the visual 
impact of the extent of hardstanding proposed would to be expected to be mitigated to a 
reasonable degree.  
 
The previous scheme would have resulted in a much taller and more dominant building with a 
height of 10.3m, an overly large service yard, insufficient landscaping and a siting which would 
have ensured significant prominence when viewed from the public realm. For these reasons, the 
previously submitted scheme 21/00471/REMM was refused by the Planning Inspectorate 
Inspector who considered the proposed development would be visually harmful to the character 
and appearance of the surrounding area. 
 
As a result of the amended scheme, the height of the building has been reduced to 8.2m which 
is lower than adjacent canopies and the siting of the building has been re-orientated to reduce 
prominence from public vantage points. Further, the amended scheme now features a 
substantially reduced service yard and a significant amount of landscaping is now proposed 
which would further screen the proposal reducing the dominance of the scheme within the 
public realm. Given this and as discussed above, it is considered the amended scheme would 
satisfy the concerns raised by the Inspector when determining the appeal.   
 
Given the above, the proposal is not considered to result in significant harm to the site itself or 
the character of the street scene. The proposal is considered to be compliant with Policy D1 of 
the Local Plan, Policy S4 of the Ashby Neighbourhood Development Plan and the advice 
contained within the NPPF.  
  
Access 
The development is proposed to be accessed via two vehicular accesses from Lountside; one 
served from the existing estate road used to access the adjacent roadside services, and the 
other formed at the existing turning head at the end of Lountside. The access proposals remain 
largely unaltered from the previously submitted scheme of which the Planning Inspectorate 
Inspector did not raise specific concerns over. 
 
The Leicestershire County Council Highways Authority (LHA) were formally consulted on the 
application and raised no concerns advising that in its view, the impacts of the development on 
highway safety would not be unacceptable, and when considered cumulatively with other 
developments, the impacts on the road network would not be severe subject to the imposition of 
conditions. 
 

22



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

The LHA noted the internal access proposals, visibility splays and swept path analysis are 
acceptable. With regard to the parking arrangements, the LHA concluded the proposal is in 
excess of the required amount of vehicular parking spaces and the disabled persons parking 
bays are in accordance with Table DG12 of Part 3 of the Leicestershire Highway Design Guide 
and are therefore acceptable. With regard to the service yard, they advised the proposed B8 
use of the site requires a total of nine HGV spaces which have been demonstrated on the 
submitted plans. As such, the parking provision is in accordance with LHDG standards and 
therefore the application is acceptable. 
 
Issues in respect of the scheme's impacts on the wider highway network, the suitability of the 
site in terms of sustainable location and its accessibility to public transport have in effect been 
dealt with at the outline stage. The scheme is therefore considered acceptable in terms of 
access and associated matters, and would comply with Policies IF4 and IF7 of the Local Plan, 
Policy S4 of the Ashby de la Zouch Neighbourhood Development Plan as well as the 
Leicestershire Highways Design Guide. 
 
Landscaping 
As set out above, the site is currently well screened from Nottingham Road by established tree 
planting (some of which was originally established as part of the landscape mitigation for the 
development of the commercial development to the south east of the site); a number of other 
smaller trees are currently located within the site. The application is accompanied by an 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement (AIA) and Landscaping Plan detailing 
additional planting and the retention of the existing vegetation. 
 
With regard to the existing trees adjacent to Nottingham Road, of the 9 singular trees and 
groups, 3 are proposed to be removed, however new landscaping would be provided to those 
areas adjacent to Nottingham Road (including new tree, hedgerow, shrub and wildflower 
meadow planting). The affected existing groups in this part of the site would also be within 
Retention Category C and U, identified in the AIA as collectively of low quality and value beyond 
partial screening from Nottingham Road. Whilst the "depth" of the planting buffer to Nottingham 
Road would be reduced to some extent, it is considered that the area of vegetation retained and 
the additional planting proposed would likely to continue to provide an effective means of 
limiting the visual impacts of the development when viewed from Nottingham Road.  
 
In addition to the landscaping referred to above, landscaped buffers would also be provided to 
the site boundaries. The submitted Landscaping Plan confirms that the site's proposed 
landscaping would include the provision of shrubs, native woodland mixes, native hedgerow 
mixes, native shrub mixes, pond edge seed mix, wildflower mixes and 93 no. heavy standard 
sized trees. 
 
The NWLDC Tree Officer advised they did not have any objections to the proposal further 
commenting that the Tree Protection Plan (120422_0029_TPP_V2) included in the AIA is 
additionally acceptable for the temporary protection of the retained trees during the 
development 
construction works. 
 
In terms of National Forest planting, it is noted that the Section 106 obligations entered into at 
the outline stage secure National Forest planting and/or financial contributions (with the amount 
payable dependent on the final extent of on-site Forest planting). Under the relevant National 
Forest planting standards, a minimum area of 0.48ha of National Forest planting is required to 
be provided within the site (or, in the event that it is not, an off-site financial contribution of 
£20,000 per hectare of the shortfall is payable). Since the initial landscaping documents were 

23



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

received we requested a further detailed plan to be submitted and an amended detailed 
Landscaping Plan has now been received which increased the standard tree sizes and 
confirmed the minimum area of National Forest planting which would be provided. The National 
Forest Company has advised the amended plan and details indicates that the National Forest 
planting requirement (which includes woodland planting, shrub planting and specimen tree 
planting) would be met on site and that the species mix, density and sizes are considered 
appropriate. As such, the National Forest Company raised no objection to the proposal. 
 
Other amendments requested were for clarity over the proposed physical boundary measures 
which has now been made clear and as such, the proposal would result in a 1.8m high Paladin 
fence to the site side of the planting buffer which would be green to blend in with the tree 
planting. It is considered the proposed fence therefore would be well screened by the planting 
and the green would be appropriate to provide further camouflage of the fencing. Following the 
amended plan the NWLDC Urban Designer was reconsulted who confirmed they have no 
objection to the scheme.  
 
The previous scheme would have resulted in insufficient landscaping for the proposal with the 
Planning Inspectorate Inspector additionally noting 'between the unit and the road, it would not 
be possible to introduce any meaningful landscape to mitigate the impact of the proposed west 
elevation'. 
 
As a result of the amended scheme, the siting of the building has been re-orientated to reduce 
prominence from public vantage points and allow further scope for landscaping. As such, a 
significant amount of landscaping is now proposed which would further screen the proposal 
reducing the dominance of the scheme within the public realm. Given this and as discussed 
above, it is considered the amended scheme would satisfy the previously raised concerns.  
 
Overall it is considered that the proposal would contribute positively to its setting within the 
National Forest and therefore would comply with the aims of Policies D1 and En1 of the adopted 
Local Plan. 
 
Other Issues 
A number of objections have been raised in respect of other matters not directly relevant to the 
determination of this reserved matters application. These include concerns relating to the need 
or otherwise for the development, the principle of development outside Limits to Development, 
and the drainage implications of the scheme (and including impacts on the River Mease SSSI 
and SAC) amongst others. With regard to the drainage concerns raised, it is noted that the 
Section 106 agreement entered into at the outline stage to secure appropriate contributions 
under the River Mease Developer Contribution Scheme, and that the capacity at the receiving 
treatment works has already been allowed for on the basis of the outline planning permission 
proposals. In terms of surface water drainage, this is controlled under conditions attached to the 
outline planning permission. On this basis (and subject to the submission of appropriate details 
under a discharge of condition application), it remains the case that the proposal will, either 
alone or in combination with other plans or projects, have no likely significant effect on the 
internationally important interest features of the River Mease SAC, or any of the features of 
special scientific interest of the River Mease SSSI.  
 
Similarly, ecological concerns have been raised by third parties however, a scheme of 
ecological mitigation is required to be implemented in accordance with the outline planning 
permission (and in respect of which details have already been approved under a separate 
discharge of condition application (ref. 21/00854/DIS)). Whilst comments have been made to 
the effect that the scheme should be subject to an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) 

24



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

independent of the Council and applicant, it is considered that, having regard to the 
characteristics of the site and its surroundings and to the scale of the scheme, it would not 
constitute EIA development under the regulations and this is an assessment that the EIA 
regulations require the Council to make and cannot be done by an independent organisation. 
Indicative criteria for industrial estate development projects (which, in effect, this use would be 
akin to) as set out in the DLUHC's Planning Practice Guidance suggest that EIA is unlikely to be 
required for development of below 20ha. It is not considered that there are any other specific 
factors applicable here that would indicate any other position ought to be reached in this regard. 
Therefore, as the proposal falls outside of the remit of EIA development it does not require such 
an assessment. 
 
It is noted that objections have been raised in respect of the scheme's impact on issues such as 
noise, oil, air pollution and the risk to public health from the proposal. However, these are not 
considered to be matters directly relevant to the determination of this reserved matters 
application and were matters that were considered at the appropriate outline stage. It is 
nevertheless noted that the supporting information submitted at outline stage indicated that the 
impacts on residential amenity would be likely to be limited given the existing noise climate of 
the site and aside from conditions relating to land contamination the NWLDC Environmental 
Protection Team advised they had no environmental observations at the time of the outline 
planning permission. Any additional information with respect of these issues would have needed 
to be requested at outline stage and it is not appropriate to reconsider these or request 
additional conditions at the reserved matters stage which only deal with specific elements of the 
scheme i.e. the reserved matters which are referred to in this report.  
 
It is therefore considered that the proposed scheme would be acceptable, and approval is 
recommended.  
 
RECOMMENDATION - PERMIT, subject to the imposition of conditions. 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 

25



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
 
Part full/part outline planning application for the development 
of the site comprising site wide infrastructure works including 
access from (and alterations to) Grange Road, internal spine 
road, earthworks and development plateaus, structural 
landscaping, utilities infrastructure, foul and surface water 
drainage infrastructure (including attenuation pond and 
outlets). Full consent sought for the erection of 5 employment 
units (totalling 2,719 square metres) comprising light industry 
(Class E(g)(iii)), general industry (Class B2) and/or storage 
and distribution (Class B8) floorspace and ancillary offices 
(Class E(g)(i)), including associated service yards and service 
vehicle parking, vehicular and cycle parking, boundary 
treatments and retaining walls, utilities infrastructure, foul and 
surface water drainage infrastructure and hard/soft 
landscaping. Outline consent (with all matters reserved except 
vehicular access from Grange Road and re-grading of site) 
sought for up to 4,000 square metres of floorspace for light 
industry (Class E(g)(iii)), general industry (Class B2) and/or 
storage and distribution (Class B8) employment floorspace 
and ancillary offices (Class E(g)(i)) and associated 
development including service yards and parking, plant, hard 
and soft landscaping (including boundary treatments and 
retaining walls), and drainage infrastructure and other 
associated infrastructure 

 Report Item No  
A2  

 

Land West Of Regs Way Bardon Leicestershire    Application Reference  
21/02281/FULM  

 
Grid Reference (E) 444471 
Grid Reference (N) 312441 
 
Applicant: 
Harworth Estates Investments Limited 
 
Case Officer: 
Adam Mellor 
 
Recommendation: 
PERMIT subject to S106 Agreement 
 

Date Registered:  
8 December 2021 

Consultation Expiry: 
12 January 2022 

13 Week Date: 
9 March 2022 

Extension of Time: 
FINAL EXT TO BE 

AGREED 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

27

Agenda Item A2



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

Site Location - Plan for indicative purposes only   

 
     

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office 
copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Licence LA 100019329) 

 
 

 

28



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION – PERMIT, subject to the following condition(s) and Section 106 
agreement: 
 

1. Time limits (for full and outline elements). 
2. Details of reserved matters. 
3. Approved plans. 
4. Phasing. 
5. Finished floor and ground levels. 
6. Site sections (phase 2). 
7. Restriction on building heights (phase 2). 
8. Limitation on use of office elements as ancillary to the principal use of the relevant unit. 
9. External materials (phase 1). 
10. Details of other external infrastructure (phase 1). 
11. Details of external plant and machinery (including noise levels). 
12. Hard surfacing (phase 1). 
13. Soft landscaping (phase 1). 
14. Landscape management plan. 
15. Phase 2 soft landscaping to demonstrate compliance with Policy En3. 
16. Compliance with arboricultural method statement. 
17. Compliance with tree protection plan. 
18. Boundary treatments (phase 1 – including protection of rail line). 
19. Implementation of noise acoustic barrier. 
20. External lighting. 
21. Delivery of ecological mitigation and enhancements. 
22. Delivery of biodiversity net gain. 
23. Ecological management plan. 
24. Delivery of vehicular access. 
25. Delivery of parking and turning facilities (phase 1). 
26. Cycle parking. 
27. Delivery of off-site highway works. 
28. Construction traffic management plan. 
29. Compliance with travel plan. 
30. Removal of existing gates. 
31. Closure of existing vehicular access. 
32. Surface water drainage (including management of surface water during the construction 

phase, future management and maintenance responsibilities and infiltration testing). 
33. Foul drainage. 
34. Design details of pumping station (phase 1). 
35. Design details of substation(s) (phase 1). 
36. External storage (phase 1). 
37. Dust management plan (phase 1). 
38. Delivery of rail line mitigation. 
39. Construction methodology statement to protect the operational safety of the rail line. 
40. Archaeology. 
41. Scheme of renewable energy technologies. 

 
 
 
 
 

29



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

This application is brought to Planning Committee at the request of Councillor Johnson due to 
the proposal being contrary to Policies G1, G2 and T3 of the adopted Hugglescote and 
Donington Le Heath Neighbourhood Plan and Policy S3 of the adopted Local Plan. He 
considers that the proposal would be detrimental to highway safety, due to the proximity to the 
operational rail line, and would impact on visual and residential amenity and nature and ecology. 
He also considers that the proposal would not be in keeping with the character of the area. 
 
MAIN REPORT 
 
1. Proposals and Background  
 
This is a “hybrid” planning application (i.e. part full and part outline) for employment 
development totalling 6,719 square metres of floorspace for either light industry (Class E(g)(iii) 
of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended)), general industry 
(Class B2) and/or storage or distribution (Class B8), with ancillary offices (Class E(g)(i)), at land 
west of Regs Way, Coalville. The application site totals 3.38 hectares and also lies to the south 
of Grange Road and east of land being developed as part of the South-East Coalville 
sustainable urban extension (SUE), it is outside the defined Limits to Development. 
 
The full element of the application relates to the erection of 5 employment units, totalling 2,719 
square metres, for either of the use classes identified above (along with ancillary offices), in the 
north/north-western part of the site. Such units would have overall heights of 8.95 metres and 
finished floor levels of 158.65 metres (unit 5) and 158.66 metres (units 1 to 4) above ordnance 
datum (AOD).  
 
In addition to the employment units (and their associated development – i.e. service yards, 
parking, hard surfacing, boundary treatments, retaining walls etc.) a new vehicular access from 
(and alteration to) Grange Road would be provided along with an internal spine road, 
earthworks and development plateaus, structural landscaping, utilities infrastructure and foul 
and surface water drainage infrastructure (including attenuation ponds and outlets). The 
development plateaus would seek approval for the finished floor levels of the unit(s) in the 
second phase which would be between 158.5 metres and 159.72 metres AOD. 
 
The outline element of the application (with all matters reserved except for vehicular access 
from Grange Road and re-grading of the site) would relate to the provision of up to 4,000 square 
metres of floorspace for either of the use classes identified above (with ancillary offices), in the 
south/south-eastern part of the site along with the associated development to such units 
including service yards and parking, hard and soft landscaping (including boundary treatments 
and retaining walls), and drainage infrastructure and other associated infrastructure. The outline 
parameters indicate that any units to be created would have heights of 8 metres to the 
underside of the haunch at the eaves. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

30



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Below is the illustrative masterplan for the site: 
 

 
 
 
A planning statement, design and access statement, employment land demand assessment, 
preliminary landscape and visual appraisal, flood risk assessment and drainage strategy, noise 
assessment, transport assessment, travel plan, air quality assessment, preliminary ecological 
appraisal, biodiversity impact assessment, tree survey and arboricultural impact assessment 
and archaeological desk-based assessment have been submitted in support of the application. 

31



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

Following the receipt of consultation responses additional and/or amended information has been 
provided and re-consultation undertaken. 
 
The plans and all other documentation associated with the application are available to view on 
the District Council’s website. 
 
There is no previous planning history for this site. 
 
2.  Publicity 
 
Seven neighbours notified 15 December 2021. 
 
A site notice was displayed on the 22 December 2021. 
 
A press notice was published in the Leicester Mercury on the 5 January 2022. 
 
 
3. Summary of Consultations and Representations Received 
 
The following summary of representations is provided. All responses from statutory consultees 
and third parties are available to view in full on the Council’s website. 
 
Objections from: 
 
Hugglescote and Donington Le Heath Parish Council on the following summarised grounds: 
 

- The application site is outside the defined Limits to Development in both the adopted 
Local Plan and Hugglescote and Donington Le Heath Neighbourhood Plan and therefore 
there is conflict with Policy G1 of the Neighbourhood Plan. Policy EC2 of the 
Neighbourhood Plan would also not be met as it has not been demonstrated that the 
development needs to be in this location. 

- The development conflicts with criteria (a), (b), (c), (d) and (f) of Policy G2 of the 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

- The development would take away the only feasible location for a station and car park to 
be provided in the Neighbourhood Plan area and therefore there is conflict with Policy T3 
which supports the provision of public transport services on the former Leicester to 
Burton railway line. 

- The application site represents the last pocket on countryside on the eastern side of the 
parish that has not been developed and this ‘green lung’ provides open aspect views 
and offers a buffer from Industrial to Residential. Residents are likely to have major 
concerns about the development as they won’t be able to enjoy the views from their 
homes particularly as the units are 8 metres in height. 

- The proposal provides for a 10 metre wide landscaping strip. There is a major concern 
as the site is proposing 5 medium sized units and there is a phase 2 proposal in the 
plans for 1 larger unit or maybe 2 large which will be placed upon raised earthworks to 
accommodate them. These units being 8 metres high on heightened earthworks will 
require mature trees in to screen the site. 

- The landscaping will need to be designed to accommodate wildlife for example badger 
runs, owl boxes and bird boxes given that nature has been lost since developments 
have been undertaken as part of the South-East Coalville extension. 

- The proposed access and egress is in close proximity to the operational mineral rail line 
and the railway crossing is dangerous. The proposal will increase traffic on Grange Road 

32



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

and will also impact on traffic entering and leaving the site. 
 

No Objections from: 
 
Environment Agency. 
National Highways. 
NWLDC – Environmental Protection (Air Quality). 
NWLDC – Environmental Protection (Land Contamination). 
NWLDC – Planning Policy. 
Wilson Enterprises Limited (comprising Davidsons and David Wilson Homes). 
 
No Objections, subject to conditions and/or informatives, from: 
 
British Transport Police. 
Leicestershire County Council – Archaeology. 
Leicestershire County Council – Ecology. 
Leicestershire County Council – Highways Authority. 
Leicestershire County Council – Lead Local Flood Authority. 
National Forest Company. 
Network Rail. 
NWLDC – Environmental Protection. 
NWLDC – Tree Officer. 
NWLDC – Urban Designer. 
 
Third Party Representations 
 
Three letters of representation have been received objecting to the application with the 
comments raised summarised as follows: 
 
Topic of Objections 
 

Summary of Objections to Topic 

 
Principle and Need 
 

 
The proposed application site is outside the limits 
to development in both the local and 
neighbourhood plans and as such should not be 
supported. 
 
 
New industrial buildings built off Bardon 
roundabout/A511 and next to the BP Garage on 
Bardon Road are predominately vacant so there is 
no need for more development of this nature. 
 

 
Highway Safety 
 

 
The positioning of the access is unacceptable as it 
is too close to the rail crossing where traffic backs 
up when the barriers are down, this would prevent 
vehicles entering or leaving the site. 
 
 
Grange Road is utilised by commuters and will 
become more heavily used with the ongoing 

33



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

residential development; it is not suitable for 
logistics development. 
 
 
The position on Grange Road will also encourage 
heavy goods vehicles (HGVs) to use Grange Road 
and Ashburton Road. HGVs on Grange Road are 
already an issue and Ashburton Road is subject to 
a weight restriction which is not suitably enforced. 
 

 
Infrastructure  
 

 
The infrastructure in the area (including highway 
infrastructure) is not sufficient to accommodate 
more development. 
 
 
What infrastructure will be in place to 
accommodate the development? 
 

 
Ecology 
 

 
There will be displaced wildlife and destruction of 
habitat as a result of the development. 
 

 
Integration of Development and 
Amenities 
 

 
The proposal will result in further building 
disruption. 
 
 
The proposed development does not integrate with 
the residential development being undertaken on 
Grange Road and is too close to the residential 
development. Significant areas of green space 
should be accommodated between industrial and 
residential development. 
 

Non-Material Planning Considerations 
 

 
The proposal will impact on property values as a 
result of lorries travelling via Grange Road to the 
A42/M42. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

34



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
4. Relevant Planning Policy  
 
National Policies 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 
 
The following sections of the NPPF are considered relevant to the determination of this 
application: 
 
Paragraphs 8 and 10 (Achieving sustainable development); 
Paragraphs 11 and 12 (Presumption in favour of sustainable development); 
Paragraph 34 (Development contributions); 
Paragraphs 38, 39, 40, 41, 42, 44 and 47 (Decision-making); 
Paragraphs 55, 56 and 57 (Planning conditions and obligations); 
Paragraph 81, 82 and 83 (Building a strong, competitive economy); 
Paragraphs 93 and 100 (Promoting healthy and safe communities); 
Paragraphs 107, 108, 109, 110, 111, 112 and 113 (Promoting sustainable transport); 
Paragraphs 119, 120, 122 and 124 (Making effective use of land); 
Paragraphs 126, 128, 130, 132 and 134 (Achieving well-designed places); 
Paragraph 146 (Protecting Green-Belt land – The National Forest); 
Paragraphs 152, 153, 154, 157, 159, 161, 167 and 169 (Meeting the challenge of climate 
change, flooding and coastal change); 
Paragraphs 174, 180, 183, 184, 185, 186, 187 and 188 (Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment); and 
Paragraphs 189, 194, 195, 197, 199, 200, 202, 204 and 205 (Conserving and enhancing the 
historic environment). 
 
Local Policies 
 
Adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan (2021) 
 
The following policies of the adopted local plan are consistent with the policies of the NPPF and 
should be afforded full weight in the determination of this application:  
 
Policy S1 – Future Housing and Economic Development Needs; 
Policy S2 – Settlement Hierarchy; 
Policy S3 – Countryside; 
Policy D1 – Design of New Development; 
Policy D2 – Amenity; 
Policy Ec2 – New Employment Sites; 
Policy IF1 – Development and Infrastructure; 
Policy IF4 – Transport Infrastructure and New Development; 
Policy IF5 – Leicester to Burton Rail Line; 
Policy IF7 – Parking Provision and New Development; 
Policy En1 – Nature Conservation; 
Policy En3 – The National Forest; 
Policy En6 – Land and Air Quality; 
Policy Cc2 – Water – Flood Risk; and 
Policy Cc3 – Water – Sustainable Drainage Systems. 
 
 

35



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
Hugglescote and Donington Le Heath Neighbourhood Plan (2021) 
 
The Hugglescote and Donington le Heath Neighbourhood Plan forms part of the development 
plan and the following policies of the Neighbourhood Plan are relevant to the determination of 
the application: 
 
Policy G1 – Limits to Development; 
Policy G3 – Design (criteria (a), (b), (d), (f), (g), (m), (o), (p), (q) and (s) would be considered 
relevant – all other criteria relating specifically to residential development); 
Policy ENV6 – Biodiversity and Habitat Connectivity; 
Policy ENV7 – Protection of the Rural Setting; 
Policy T3 – Leicester to Burton Railway Line; and 
Policy E2 – New Small-Scale Employment. 
 
Other Policies 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance. 
Good Design for North West Leicestershire Supplementary Planning Document – April 2017. 
Leicestershire Highways Design Guide (Leicestershire County Council). 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 – Section 66. 
Circular 06/05 (Biodiversity and Geological Conservation - Statutory Obligations and Their 
Impact Within The Planning System). 
 
 
5. Assessment 
 
Principle of Development  
 
Need or Demand for Additional Employment Land 
 
In accordance with the provision of Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004, the starting point for the determination of the application is the Development Plan, which, 
in this instance, includes the adopted Local Plan (2021) and made Hugglescote and Donington 
Le Heath Neighbourhood Plan (2021). 
 
The application is a “hybrid” planning application (i.e. part full and part outline) for employment 
development totaling 6,719 square metres of floorspace for either light industry (Class E(g)(iii) of 
the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended)), general industry 
(Class B2) and/or storage or distribution (Class B8), with ancillary offices (Class E(g)(i)). The 
application site lies outside the defined Limits to Development as defined by the Policies Map to 
the adopted Local Plan and is not identified for any particular purpose (or any specific use) 
within the adopted Local Plan. 
 
Policy S3 of the adopted Local Plan sets out the circumstances in which development will be 
permitted outside the Limits to Development; insofar as employment development is concerned 
the principle of such uses is allowed for (under criterion (s) of Policy S3) where it would comply 
with Policy Ec2 of the adopted Local Plan. 
 
Policy Ec2 (subsection (2)) provides that “Where evidence indicates an immediate need or 
demand for additional employment land (B1, B2 and B8) in North West Leicestershire that 
cannot be met from land allocated in this plan, the Council will consider favourably proposals 

36



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

that meet identified need in appropriate locations.” 
 
Policy G1 of the made Hugglescote and Donington Le Heath Neighbourhood Plan (HDLHNP) 
states that “land outside the defined Limits to Development will be treated as countryside, where 
development will be carefully controlled in line with local and national strategic planning 
policies.” 
 
As such, in order to comply with the principle of development requirements of Policy S3, it would 
be necessary to demonstrate that there was an immediate need or demand for additional 
employment land within the District that could not otherwise be met by allocated sites (and, if 
that could be shown, that the criteria in (a), (b) and (c) above would also be met). 
 
In terms of the interpretation of ‘immediate’, ‘need’ and ‘demand’ the Council’s Planning Policy 
Team have stated these to be as follows: 
 

- ‘Immediate’ – in this context can be interpretated as meaning ‘arising now’. 
- ‘Need’ – correlates to a policy requirement identified through the plan-making process to 

ensure that the future needs of an area are adequately addressed. 
- ‘Demand’ – could be in the form of a request from potential future users or could be to 

address a gap in the supply of premises in the district. In other words, it relates to 
‘market demand’. 

 
The policy requires need or demand to be demonstrated (my emphasis); it is not necessary to 
demonstrate both. 
 
The application is accompanied by an Employment Land Demand Assessment (by Turley of 
November 2021) and as part of the consideration of the application the District Council’s 
Planning Policy Team have been consulted. 
 
Need 
 
In terms of the Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA), the 
Council’s Planning Policy Team have indicated there is an over-provision of land for both 
industry (use class B2) and small scale B8 and under-provision of land for offices (use class 
E(g)(i)). Taken collectively, and when an allowance for the potential loss of existing employment 
sites to other uses is factored in, the total minimum requirement is exceeded by some 4.6 
hectares (ha). Since March 2021 outline planning permission has also been granted for 35,051 
square metres (sqm)/9.13ha of small scale B8 floorspace at Netherfields Lane, Sawley 
(application reference 20/00316/OUT). 
 
The need figure in the HEDNA is expressed as a minimum and is not a cap, therefore it can be 
exceeded. Permitting the proposed application would add 6,719sqm (3.38ha) of 
industrial/smaller warehousing to the supply and taking account of the Netherfields Lane 
application as well, the minimum requirement would be exceeded by some 17.11ha (23%). It is, 
however, the case that exceeding the HEDNA requirement is not, of itself, a reason to refuse 
the application. Notwithstanding this, based on the HEDNA there is not an outstanding or 
immediate need to satisfy Policy Ec2(2) of the adopted Local Plan. 
 
Updated evidence of employment land requirements has been prepared for the Local Plan 
Review. The North West Leicestershire: The Need for Employment Land (November 2020) 
study has been prepared by the firm Stantec and is known as ‘the Stantec Study’. 
 

37



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

Based on the Stantec Study, the Local Plan Review would need to allocate new sites sufficient 
for at least 166,000sqm of industrial/smaller warehousing, taking account of Netherfields Lane 
this brings the residual requirement to at least 133,700sqm. 
 
The applicant’s Employment Land Demand Assessment refers to the Stantec Study as 
evidence of an outstanding need, with the proposed development contributing up to 6,719sqm 
of industrial/smaller warehousing thereby reducing the residual requirement to at least 
127,000sqm. 
 
Whilst the Council’s Planning Policy Team consider the Stantec Study to be a robust piece of 
work, it has not been subject to third party scrutiny through the Local Plan Review Examination 
process and therefore little weight can be attributed to it in the determination of planning 
applications. It is also acknowledged that additional allowances for flexibility and the future 
losses of employment land to other uses will also need to be factored in as the Local Plan 
Review advances. Whilst amounts may change, the assumption that there will be a need for 
additional industrial/smaller warehousing employment land up to 2039 is a reasonable one. 
 
The need identified by the Stantec Study is also for the District as a whole which can be met by 
sites anywhere in the District, with there also being a pipeline supply of sites which already have 
planning permission and contribute towards this need. 
 
On the basis of the above, the original consultation response from the Council’s Planning Policy 
Team concluded that the remaining need for floorspace was not immediate to comply with 
Policy Ec2(2). 
 
Following the original comments of the Council’s Planning Policy Team the applicant submitted 
a ‘Technical Note Evidencing Immediate Demand’ (dated March 2022) (the ‘Technical Note’). 
The Technical Note suggests that the existing supply of floorspace is not as responsive to 
immediate needs as implied by the Council and states there is an immediate need for additional 
employment land. 
 
The Technical Note also contends that the supply of sites with planning permission are not 
immediately available (based on the applicant’s definition of ‘immediate employment land 
supply’ which is a site with (a) full or outline and reserved matters consent and (b) a realistic 
prospect of completion within 3 years) and therefore there is only 33,272sqm of available 
floorspace (excluding Netherfields Lane) which equates to a 2.6 year supply. The applicant also 
argues that a shortfall could emerge much sooner than the Council anticipates given that much 
of the identified supply is incapable of responding to immediate needs. 
 
The Council’s Planning Policy Team’s second consultation response outlines that, unlike 
housing, there is no requirement in the NPPF for there to be a 5 year supply of deliverable 
employment land and that it is not a requirement for all sites to be available (some will be short 
term prospects, others will come forward in the medium to longer term). It is also noted that the 
Park Lane, Castle Donington site (32,159sqm of floorspace) has been discounted by the 
applicant as not being ‘immediately available’ as it only has outline consent. However, this 
would be no different to the outline element of this application which constitutes 60% of the 
proposed floorspace to be created and would not be available to meet an immediate need. 
 
In such circumstances the second consultation response from the Council’s Planning Policy 
Team concludes that it has not been demonstrated that the need for the employment land is 
sufficiently immediate to comply with Policy Ec2(2). 
 

38



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
Demand 
 
Section 4 of the applicant’s Employment Land Demand assessment considers the evidence of 
market demand for the development. No end users for the development have been named, and 
therefore the demand assessment relates to general market demand. 
 
In their original consultation response the Council’s Planning Policy Team considered that the 
applicant’s demand assessment had not demonstrated an immediate demand to justify the 
development. This was particularly evident for the second outline phase of the development (of 
up to 4,000sqm of floorspace) which amounts to nearly 60% of the total proposed floorspace 
and where there was no confirmation of the number and size of units. 
 
The Technical Note, subsequently submitted by the applicant, concludes that the volume of 
demand in combination with the pace of lettings demonstrate an immediate demand for units of 
the size proposed. 
 
In their second consultation response the Council’s Planning Policy Team indicated that the 
enquiries within the Technical Note related to a wide geographical area (encompassing 
Coalville, Ashby and Leicester) with the exact boundaries of the search area not being provided. 
There was also a mismatch between the search area for the enquires (as above) and the 
analysis of supply (vacancy and take up speed) which focused on Coalville/Bardon. 
 
The second consultation response from the Council’s Planning Policy Team therefore 
concluded that whilst the Technical Note showed indicators of demand, it did not conclusively or 
transparently demonstrate evidence of an immediate demand for additional employment land in 
North West Leicestershire which is a specific requirement of Policy Ec2(2). 
 
Additional marketing information, comprising a market activity update (dated 30th August 2022), 
covering letter (dated 2nd September 2022) and marketing activity update with summary table 
(12th September 2022), were subsequently submitted by the applicant.  
 
Mather Jamie (MJ) were commissioned by the applicant to market the site, and this was 
achieved by the production of a brochure showing a scheme of 5 units (based on the ‘full’ 
element of the application) and two units of 1,841sqm and 2,194sqm for the ‘outline’ element. 
 
The marketing activity update with summary table shows that 27 enquiries were received 
between the 15th August and 12th September 2022 (4 weeks), 21 of which were from businesses 
seeking owner occupier premises.  
 
In reviewing the 21 enquiries the Council’s Planning Policy Team’s third consultation response 
outlined that 14 had a degree of intent with enquiries about specific units of a particular size 
and/or indicating timescales for moving which ranged from between 6 and 18 months in to the 
future. Taking account of construction time and the time needed to organise a business 
relocation, it is broadly feasible that these moves could be accommodated on the site. 
 
For confidentially reasons, the marketing activity update does not name the firms who made the 
enquiries, but to address this the applicant and MJ met officers in the Council’s Planning Policy 
Team so that additional details could be verbally provided of the individual firms (e.g. business 
sector, number of employees, current location), their reasons for moving and their premises 
requirements. 
 

39



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

The Council’s Planning Policy Team, following the meeting, are satisfied that the enquiries are 
from genuine businesses and that 14 of the firms have a current intent to move if suitable 
premises are available. Such a level of interest is illustrated by the fact that each unit had 
interest from between 3 and 5 separate firms, and if such interest came to fruition the entire 
scheme would be occupied. 
 
Ultimately there is no commitment or certainty that any of these firms would acquire a unit if 
planning permission were granted, rather the exercise illustrates the level of potential owner 
occupier interest in units of the type, size and location proposed. 
 
In their third consultation response the Council’s Planning Policy Team conclude that the 
marketing activity report demonstrates sufficiently an immediate demand for the units, and as 
the interest recorded is specific to the application site such an immediate demand is 
demonstrated in North West Leicestershire. 
 
Alternative Sites 
 
In addition to the above, the test in Policy Ec2(2) also requires it to be demonstrated that any 
immediate need or demand “cannot be met from land allocated in the plan”. 
 
In their original consultation response the Council’s Planning Policy Team indicated that the 
applicant’s Employment Land Demand assessment had not assessed alternative allocated 
sites. 
 
It was, however, accepted that the Money Hill allocation could not meet an immediate demand 
as it was not sufficiently advanced through the planning process.  
 
Policy Ec1 of the adopted Local Plan also includes employment permissions which are suitable, 
including the Lounge site at Ashby De La Zouch (allocation Ec1a), Rear of Charnwood Arms, 
Bardon (Ec1b) and Part of the site at Sawley Crossroads (Ec1c). In terms of these sites, 
however, the Council’s Planning Policy Team discounted Ec1a and Ec1c as being suitable as 
Ec1a is not the size of units which the application aims to provide and Ec1c is reserved for a 
further extension for Aldi (who currently occupy part of that site) and is therefore not available.  
 
It was, however, considered that the applicant should demonstrate why Ec1b would not be 
suitable as an alternative. 
 
In their Technical Note the applicant concluded that there was no prospect of Ec1b being 
available to meet an immediate demand. This was due to the outline permission granted under 
17/00048/OUTM (for 3,733 sqm of light industry and/or warehousing) expiring in 2021 and an 
application for the site owner’s logistics and transport business currently being considered under 
application reference 21/00244/FUL.  
 
On this basis the Council’s Planning Policy Team’s second consultation response concluded 
that this site is not currently available and therefore any immediate demand demonstrated could 
not be met by land allocated in the adopted Local Plan. 
 
Policy En2 of the made Hugglescote and Donington Le Heath Neighbourhood Plan (HDLHNP) 
 
Policy En2 of the HDLHNP outlines that small-scale employment related development, including 
new development, will be supported subject to compliance with the provisions of Policy G3 of 
the HDLHNP (associated with design) and where development “will not generate unacceptable 

40



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

noise, fumes or smells; will respect and is compatible with local character and uses; and would 
not be harmful to the living conditions of neighbouring residents, or cause serious harm in terms 
of road safety or the free flow of traffic.” 
 
The above policy does not define ‘small-scale’, so it is unclear whether it is directly relatable to 
the proposed development (6,719 square metres of floorspace) or not. An assessment of the 
development against Policy G3 of the HDLHNP, as well as the other criteria identified, is 
undertaken in the relevant sections of this report which follow and where it is concluded that the 
development is acceptable. 
 
In such circumstances should the development be considered ‘small-scale’ it would be 
compliant with the aims of Policy En2 of the adopted HDLHNP. It is noted that there is no policy 
within the HDLHNP which deals with employment development which is not ‘small-scale’. 
 
Need or Demand for Additional Employment Land Conclusion 
 
Paragraph 81 of the NPPF (2021) indicates that planning decisions should “help create the 
conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt” and that “significant weight 
should be placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking into account 
both local business needs and wider opportunities for development.” 
 
Criterion (d) of Paragraph 82 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies should “be flexible 
enough to accommodate needs not anticipated in the plan, allow for new and flexible working 
practices (such as live-work accommodation), and to enable a rapid response to changes in 
economic circumstances.” 
 
Taking into account the above assessment it is considered that an immediate demand for 
additional employment land in North West Leicestershire has been demonstrated which cannot 
be met by land allocated in the adopted Local Plan. 
 
In such circumstances there is a need to assess the schemes performance against criteria (a), 
(b) and (c) within Ec2(2) and this is in effect assessed in the following section of this report. This 
is with the exception of criterion (b), which is assessed in the ‘Highway Safety’ section of this 
report below, and criterion (c) (insofar as it relates to residential amenity) which is assessed in 
the ‘Residential Amenity’ section. 
 
Should Policy Ec2(2) be satisfied (and hence, the principle of development element of Policy S3 
be satisfied) it will also be necessary to consider the proposals’ compliance with criteria (i) to (vi) 
within Policy S3. This is undertaken in the following section of this report, as well as an 
assessment against Policy G1 of the HDLHNP. 
 
It is also considered that the development is compliant with the aims of Policy E2 of the made 
HDLHNP should the development be considered ‘small-scale’. There is no set policy in the 
HDLHNP which deals with employment development which is not ‘small-scale’. 
 
Compliance with Criteria of Policies S3 and Ec2(2) of the adopted Local Plan and Policies G1 
and G3(b) of the made Hugglescote and Donington Le Heath Neighbourhood Plan (HDLHNP) 
 
Criterion (i) of Policy S3 
 

(i) The appearance and character of the landscape, including its historic character and 
features such as biodiversity, views, settlement pattern, rivers, watercourses, field 

41



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

patterns, industrial heritage and local distinctiveness is safeguarded and enhanced. 
 
Criterion (c) of Policy Ec2(2) 
 

(c) Not being detrimental to the amenities of any nearby residential properties or the wider 
environment. 

 
Criterion (b) of Policy G3 
 

(b)  All development will enhance and reinforce local character and sense of place of the 
specific location in which it is situated. All new proposals for development should not 
cause an adverse negative impact on the local beauty of the countryside. 

 
Paragraph 174 of the NPPF highlights the need to recognise the intrinsic character and beauty 
of the countryside but does not specifically preclude development within the countryside.  
 
The application site falls within a transitional area of character between the boundaries of the 
Charnwood National Character Area (NCA) (NCA 73) and the Leicestershire and south 
Derbyshire Coalfield NCA (NCA 71). Physically the site is located within NCA 73.  
 
At a local level the application site falls within the ‘Urban Fringe 4: Southern Fringe of Coalville 
Area as identified in the North West Leicestershire Settlement Fringe Assessment (2010) (SFA). 
This SFA also encompasses the South-East Coalville Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) 
which is to the immediate west of the site. Within the SFA, land to the south of Grange Road is 
recognised as the Coalfield Village Farmlands Landscape Character Type (LCT). 
 
The SFA concludes its assessment by identifying the scope for mitigation and notes: 
 
“Any development close to the edge of Bardon 21 [the Bardon Hill Industrial Estate] should aim 
to incorporate larger woodlands with irregular shaped edges and pockets of open grassland, 
retaining the field pattern where possible to provide greater screening to warehouse 
development in the wider landscape.” 
 
A preliminary landscape and visual appraisal (LVA) has been submitted in support of the 
application and this summaries the landscape character of the site as follows: 
 

- “The site is currently used for arable farming and is bounded by manmade 
embankments rising above the site on the eastern, northern and western boundaries. 

- Two highly trafficked roads pass through the immediate landscape, Grange Road and 
Regs Way. The enclosure of these roads varies with Regs Way screened from the site 
by the dense vegetation between, and Grange Road being more open and dominant 
reducing the sense of tranquillity and rural character. 

- Industrial buildings are evident in the immediate vicinity, with the Stobart building 
particularly evident, and elevated above the site, to the south with the large Amazon 
warehouse on Beveridge Lane also evident further south. The smaller industrial building 
operated by QMS is evident to the north, immediately beyond Grange Road. 

- The woodland block beyond the site to the south is a dominant feature and creates 
some separation from the industrial estate beyond. 

- The land to the west of the rail corridor, forming the western boundary, until recently was 
arable farmland, however in the past 12 months the land has been subjected to a major 
earthworks operation to create development plateaus for the approved residential 
development.” 

42



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
The visual envelope of the site (being the area of the landscape from which a site or proposed 
development will potentially be visible) is broadly defined as follows: 
 

- “To the north the visual envelope is contained by the rising landform associated with 
Grange Road and the unmanaged vegetation forming its northern boundary. 

- To the immediate south of the site the visual envelope is contained by the mature 
woodland block on the southern edge of the Bardon Hill Industrial Estate, and the 
Stobart building, on the northern edge of the estate rising above the tree line. 

- To the south-west the visual envelope is more extensive, with a rolling arable farmland 
and field boundaries with the vegetation along Beveridge Land defining the enclosure. It 
should be noted this containment will be subject to change as South-East Coalville 
brings forward extensive residential development on the farmland. 

- Similarly to the west, although the visual envelope is more extensive, it is currently 
subject to change as the South-East Coalville development changes the previous land 
use of arable farmland to suburban residential development. 

- To the east the visual envelope is contained by the rising embankment forming the 
western edge of Regs Way road corridor.” 

 
Sensitive visual receptors to the proposed development are identified in the LVA as: 
 
Residential Properties 
 
Whilst no existing residential properties exist, the South-East Coalville development will result in 
new residential receptors. The most sensitive of these would be the residential receptors on the 
eastern edge of South-East Coalville, in particular the Bellway development being constructed 
in accordance with permission granted under application reference 20/2030/REMM. 
 
Roads, Access and Public Rights of Way 
 
Open views of the site are afforded from motorists travelling east and west on Grange Road to 
and from the junction with the Birch Tree Roundabout. Users of public right of way (PROW) 
N54, situated to the south of the site, which glimpsed views from a short section of the site to 
the immediate east of the railway corridor. 
 
Workers 
 
People working in the high level office area at QMS and within the Bardon Hill railway signal box 
will experience views of the site. 
 
LVA Conclusion 
 
The LVA acknowledges that the introduction of built elements on the site, which is currently 
open and undeveloped, will result in a significant change to its character. It is, however, 
specified the introduction of landscape structure planting will contribute to the mitigation of the 
proposed development with woodland blocks being created (which reflects local characteristics) 
and planting around the units assisting in softening views and ‘breaking up’ the mass of the built 
development. 
 
In terms of visual impacts, the LVA specifies the site is visually well contained to the north, 
south and east, with views from Grange Road limited to vehicular and pedestrian users and 
views from PROW N54 heavily filtered. Consequently the visual impacts would be limited to the 

43



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

residential properties to be constructed to the immediate west as part of the South-East 
Coalville SUE. 
 
Officer Conclusion on LVA 
 
It is considered that the assessment undertaken in the LVA is reasonable, and the lack of 
statutory landscape designations on or around the site is significant in assessing the level of 
harm arising from the proposal.  
 
In terms of landscape character the application site is/will be surrounded by built forms of 
developments, including: 
 

- The South-East Coalville SUE being developed to the immediate west; 
- The premises of QMS being set to the immediate north (on the opposite side of Grange 

Road) and where permission exists for the construction of a building for use under use 
class B2 and/or B8 under application reference 21/00493/FULM (this building would be 
constructed to the east of the existing building and would be parallel with Bardon Road 
(A511)); 

- The development of employment buildings to the east of the site on the opposite side of 
the Birch Tree Roundabout, in accordance with the permissions granted under 
application reference 18/01890/OUTM and 20/2029/REMM (known as land east of Regs 
Way); and 

- The Bardon Hill Industrial Estate to the south, and where built forms are visible from 
Grange Road including the Stobart building and the premises of Amazon on Beveridge 
Lane. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

44



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
Surrounding Developments 
 

 
 
In such circumstances whilst it is acknowledged that the land is currently undeveloped and there 
would be some change to the landscape character as a result of the development, this is 
considered to not be significant given the heavy urban influences either established, or to be 
established, in the immediate area and that any impact would be localised given the visual 
containment of the site. On this basis the landscape could accommodate the development 
without its character being significantly harmed. 
 
It is also considered that visually the development would be viewed in connection with the other 
significant urban influences in the landscape, as identified above, which would localise the 
visual impacts.  
 
In terms of the sensitive residential receptors to the west, whilst it is accepted that the ground 
levels on the site are higher than those associated with the residential development, around a 
difference of 3.46 to 3.47 metres between the proposed finished floor levels (FFLs) of units 1 to 
5 (part of the ’full’ element of the application) and the approved FFLs of the closet residential 
receptors to be constructed, there would be separation distance of around 112 metres between 
the two developments. The FFL of QMS, as well as the additional building to be constructed on 
the QMS site, are also higher than those to be established on the application site.  
 

45



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
It is considered that the landscape planting which would be undertaken (and which would be 
conditioned on any permission granted) would suitably mitigate the visual impacts from the 
sensitive residential receptors, with permission also existing for the creation of a landscape 
buffer between the residential development constructed by Bellway (under application reference 
20/02030/REMM) and the railway line as permitted under application reference 20/02028/REM. 
 
The proposed development would also not significantly compromise people’s experience of 
views towards features of interest within the landscape, with only filtered views established from 
a partial section of PROW N54 (to the south of the site) and vehicular and pedestrian users of 
Grange Road experiencing the development in the context of its relationship with other urban 
influences. 
 
View from PROW N54 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

46



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
View from Junction of Grange Road with the Birch Tree Roundabout/A511 (Bardon Road) 
 

 
 
Overall, the visual impact of the development to the character and appearance of the landscape 
would not be significantly adverse and would be appropriately mitigated by landscaping 
infrastructure. Consequently, the landscape would be safeguarded with no detriment arising to 
the wider environment. On this basis the proposal would be compliant with criterion (i) of Policy 
S3 and criterion (c) of Part (2) of Policy Ec2 of the adopted Local Plan, as well as criterion (b) of 
Policy G3 of the HDLHNP and Paragraph 174 of the NPPF. 
 
It is also considered that the rural setting of Hugglescote and Donington Le Heath would be 
preserved, in the context of Policy ENV7 of the made HDLHNP, given that in viewpoint 6 (from 
public right of way (PROW) N50) the eventual development associated with the South-East 
Coalville SUE would be dominant in the view eastwards from PROW N50 and would screen the 
development. It is also noted that in the photographs associated with viewpoint 6 the Stobart 
building is visible with this building set at a significantly higher land level then the application 
site. 
 
Criteria (ii) and (iii) of Policy S3 
 

(ii) It does not undermine, either individually or cumulatively with existing or proposed 
development, the physical and perceived separation and open undeveloped character 
between nearby settlements, either through contiguous extensions to existing 
settlements or through development on isolated sites on land divorced from settlement 
boundaries; and 

(iii) It does not create or exacerbate ribbon development. 
 
In terms of criterion (ii), the application site comprises greenfield land located to the south of 
Grange Road and west of Regs Way in close proximity to the junctions of these roads with the 
Birch Tree roundabout. It lies adjacent to the Limits to Development for the Coalville Urban Area 
which collectively comprises Coalville, Donington Le Heath, Greenhill, Hugglescote, Snibston, 
Thringstone and Whitwick as well as the Bardon Employment Area. 
 
In the context of the site location, where it is immediately adjacent to the Limits to Development 
of the Coalville Urban Area, and the development undertaken around the site (as identified 
above) it is considered that the development would not undermine the physical and perceived 
separation and open undeveloped character between settlements given that it does not lie 
between defined settlements. 
  
 

47



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

With regards to criterion (iii), the Planning Portal defines ‘ribbon development’ as “development, 
usually residential, extending along one or both sides of a road but not extended in depth” with 
the dictionary definition being the “the building of houses along a main road, especially one 
leading from a town or village.” By strict definition the proposal would not conflict with criteria 
(iii), as the development is not residential. In any event the application site is bound by 
development on all sides and would, for all intents and purposes, comprise an infill plot of land 
which could not therefore create or exacerbate ribbon development given such integration with 
existing/proposed development (i.e. there is no land immediately beyond or adjacent the 
application site on which to create further development). 
 
Based on the above there would be no conflict with criteria (ii) and (iii) of Policy S3. 
 
Criterion (iv) of Policy S3 
 

(iv) Built development is well integrated with existing development and existing buildings, 
including the re-use of existing buildings, where appropriate. 

 
It is outlined in the assessment under criterion (i) of Policy S3 that the application site lies in 
close proximity to existing or proposed development on all boundaries. 
 
On this basis the built development would be well integrated with existing development and 
buildings and would therefore not conflict with criterion (iv) of Policy S3.  
 
Criterion (v) of Policy S3 
 

(v) The development will not seriously undermine the vitality and viability of existing town 
and local centres. 

 
Whilst offices (under use class E) would be classed as a main town centre use, and therefore 
expected to be directed toward the closest Town Centre/Primary Shopping Area, it is noted that 
the offices proposed as part of the application would be ancillary to the primary use of the units 
under use classes E(g)(iii), B2 or B8 and therefore it would be unreasonable to redirect the 
office space to the closest Town Centre/Primary Shopping Area. A condition would be imposed 
on any permission granted to enforce that the offices are used as ancillary to the principal use of 
the unit. 
 
It is also noted, in any event, that offices are now excluded from the need for an impact 
assessment to the vitality and viability of the town centre to be undertaken under Paragraph 88 
of the NPPF. 
 
Overall, and taking into account the ancillary nature of any offices, it is considered that no 
conflict with criterion (v) of Policy S3 arises. 
 
Criterion (vi) of Policy S3 
 

(vi) The proposed development is accessible, or will be made accessible, by a range of 
sustainable transport. 

 
 
 
 
 

48



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

Criterion (a) of Policy Ec2(2) 
 

(a) Being accessible or will be made accessible by a choice of means of transport, including 
sustainable transport modes, as a consequence of planning permission being granted 
for the development. 

 
It is considered that the site would have good public transport links given that bus services run 
along Regs Way and Bardon Road (A511) with relevant bus services being within appropriate 
walking distances. Accessibility to these stops would be achieved via existing footways on 
Grange Road, Regs Way and Bardon Road (A511), some of which are designed to cater for 
both pedestrians and cyclists. The application site is also within walking distance of the 
settlements of Coalville and Hugglescote. 
 
A travel plan has also been submitted in support of the application which has the objective of 
minimising the number of new car trips generated by staff and visitors to and from the 
development by promoting and supporting the use of alternative modes of travel (walking, 
cycling, public transport and car sharing). The plan includes targets as well as measures and 
incentives to achieve the targets and methods for monitoring the travel patterns to the site. It is 
noted that the County Highways Authority (CHA) have no objections to the travel plan, as is 
outlined in the ‘Highway Safety’ section of this response below. 
 
Overall the proposal is considered to be accessible by a range of sustainable transport and is 
therefore compliant with criterion (vi) of Policy S3 and criterion (a) of Policy Ec2(2). 
 
Overall Conclusion in Relation to Compliance with Criteria of Policies S3 and Ec2(2) of 
the adopted Local Plan and Policies G1 and G3(b) of the made Hugglescote and 
Donington Le Heath Neighbourhood Plan (HDLHNP) 
 
Paragraph 83 of the NPPF outlines that planning decisions “should recognise and address the 
specific locational requirements of different sectors. This includes making provision for clusters 
or networks of knowledge and data-driven, creative or high technology industries; and for 
storage and distribution operations at a variety of scales and in suitably accessible locations.” 
 
It is concluded above that the proposal would not conflict with criteria (i) to (vi) of Policy S3 of 
the adopted Local Plan, nor criteria (a) and (c) (insofar as it relates to the ‘wider environment’) of 
Policy Ec2(2) and criterion (b) of Policy G3 of the HDLHNP. The assessment of criterion (c) of 
Policy Ec2(2) (insofar as it relates to ‘residential amenity’) is undertaken within the ‘Residential 
Amenity’ section of this report below, and where it is concluded that no significantly adverse 
impacts would arise. The assessment of criterion (b) of Policy Ec2(2) is undertaken in the 
‘Highway Safety’ section of this report below, and where it is again concluded that no adverse 
impacts would arise. 
 
The proposal is also considered compliant with the aims of Paragraph 83 of the NPPF. 
 
Overall the principle of the development would be considered compliant against Policies S3 and 
Ec2(2) of the adopted Local Plan and Paragraph 83 of the NPPF. 
 
Insofar as Policy G1 of the HDLHNP is concerned, this specifies that proposals outside the 
defined Limits to Development will be assessed against Local and National Policies. As is 
concluded above the proposal is compliant with Policies S3 and Ec2(2) of the adopted Local 
Plan, as well as Paragraph 83 of the NPPF and therefore it would also be compliant with Policy 
G1 of the HDLHNP. 

49



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
The development also does not conflict with Policy ENV7 of the HDLHNP. 

 
Other issues associated with the development are assessed in more detail in the relevant 
sections of this report below.  
 
Assessment of the objections received in relation to the principle of the development 
 
Objection Response 
The proposed application site is outside 
the limits to development in both the local 
and neighbourhood plans and as such 
should not be supported. 
 

See above assessment. Whilst the application 
site is outside the defined Limits to 
Development, Policy S3 of the adopted Local 
Plan supports employment development 
where a need or demand is demonstrated in 
accordance with Part (2) of Policy Ec2. A 
demand for the development has been 
demonstrated in this instance. 
 
The proposal is not contrary to Policy G1 of 
the adopted Hugglescote and Donington Le 
Heath Neighbourhood Plan (HDLHNP) given 
the proposal is compliant with Local and 
National Policies. 
  
In terms of Policy E2 of the HDLHNP it is 
unclear if the development would comprise 
‘small scale’ employment development, but in 
any event it is considered that the proposal 
would be compliant with the terms of this 
policy given its compliance with Policy G3 of 
the HDLHNP and that no adverse impacts 
arise in other respects (as assessed in more 
detail below). 
 

The application site is outside the defined 
Limits to Development in both the adopted 
Local Plan and Hugglescote and Donington 
Le Heath Neighbourhood Plan and 
therefore there is conflict with Policy G1 of 
the Neighbourhood Plan. Policy E2 of the 
Neighbourhood Plan would also not be met 
as it has not been demonstrated that the 
development needs to be in this location. 
 

New industrial buildings built off Bardon 
roundabout/A511 and next to the BP 
Garage on Bardon Road are predominately 
vacant so there is no need for more 
development of this nature. 
 

Whether newly constructed employment 
buildings in the area are vacant or not, is not 
material to the consideration of the application 
in the circumstances that a demand has been 
demonstrated for the size and types of units 
proposed as part of this application, whereas 
those units which may be vacant could be 
targeted at a different market to those 
proposed. 
 

 
Loss of Agricultural Land 
 
In terms of the loss of agricultural land, Paragraph 174 of the NPPF outlines that planning 
policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by, 
amongst other things, recognising the “wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem 
services – including the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile (BMV) 
agricultural land.” Footnote 58 to Paragraph 175 of the NPPF suggests that “where significant 

50



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, areas of poorer quality land 
should be preferred to those of a higher quality.” BMV agricultural land is defined as that falling 
within Grades 1, 2 and 3a of the Agricultural Land Classification (ALC). 
 
Information which accompanies the application does not detail the agricultural quality of the 
application site but on the basis of the ALC map for the East Midlands Region it would likely be 
within Grade 3 (Good to Moderate), however the ALC map does not specify whether the Grade 
3 land falls within 3a (BMV) or 3b (not BMV) classification. 
 
Whilst the NPPF does not suggest that the release of smaller BMV sites is acceptable, the 
magnitude of loss of agricultural land is considered to be low where less than 20 hectares of 
BMV would be lost. Given that the developable site area (3.38 hectares) would fall substantially 
below this threshold it is considered that a reason to refuse the application in the context of 
criterion (b) of Paragraph 174 of the NPPF could not be substantiated. It could also be argued, 
from an economic perspective, that the land would be more valuable for employment purposes 
then its current agricultural use. 
 
Residential Amenity 
 
The nearest existing residential receptor to the site would be any habitable accommodation 
associated with the Birch Tree Public House, situated to the north-east of the site, although it is 
acknowledged that residential dwellings are being built to the west of the site as part of the 
South-East Coalville Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) and therefore the impact to the future 
residential amenities of these properties would also need to be assessed. 
 
The Birch Tree Public House is located around 167 metres from unit 5, being the closest unit to 
this property, and is situated on land which is higher than that associated with the application 
site. A section drawing has been submitted in support of the application and this shows that the 
ridge height of unit 5 (as well as units 1 to 4) would only exceed the land level of the adjacent 
highway (Birch Tree roundabout) by around 3 metres and would be screened by existing 
landscaping infrastructure to the north-eastern site boundary, as well as proposed landscaping 
infrastructure to the northern and eastern site boundaries in time. Taking into account the 
separation distance and limited massing of the unit which would be presented to the Birch Tree 
Public House, it is considered that no adverse overbearing, overshadowing or overlooking 
impacts would arise. 
 
With regards to future residential amenities, the closest residential development to the 
application site would be that being constructed by Bellway to the west in connection with 
application reference 20/02030/REMM (erection of 164 dwellings with associated car parking, 
secondary roads and incidental landscape planting (reserved matters to outline planning 
permission ref. 13/00956/OUTM)).  
 
A hybrid application is also being considered under application reference 22/01529/FULM 
(outline planning permission for proposed residential development of up to 150 dwellings, green 
and blue infrastructure, electricity substations and associated works (all matters reserved other 
than part access); full planning permission for provision of sports pitch) which is on land to the 
north-west. 
 
The layout approved under 20/02030/REMM (as below) shows that plots 30 to 34 are situated 
closest to the northern part of the application site, with plots 146 to 155 situated closer to the 
southern part of the application site. All of the above plots (with the exception of plots 30 and 
34) present their front elevations to the railway line (i.e. the western boundary of the application 

51



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

site). The residential gardens to such dwellings are predominately situated to their west (i.e. 
away from the application site) with the exception of plots 146/147 and 155. 
 
Approved Layout for 20/02030/REMM 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

52



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

A section drawing (as below) shows that land levels fall from the application site towards the 
railway line (i.e. from east to west), with land levels also falling from north to south (by around 
7.7 metres). Land levels also fall from north to south on the land associated with 
20/02030/REMM by around 5.18 metres. 
 
 
Site Sections 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

53



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

Site Sections Key 

 
 
Planning permission reference 20/02028/REM has approved a landscape buffer (as shown 
below) between the residential development (consented under 20/02030/REMM) and the 
railway line, with a 1.8 metre high noise acoustic barrier (close boarded timber fence) being 
provided adjacent to the railway line.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

54



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

Approved Landscape Buffer for 20/02028/REM 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

55



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

Land levels rise up the railway line, by around a metre, when viewed from the development 
consented under application reference 20/02030/REMM, as is evidenced on the viewpoints V5 
and V6 within the submitted preliminary Landscape and Visual Appraisal (LVA) as shown below: 
 
Viewpoint 5 – Taken from the Higher Land Level of 20/02030/REMM 
 

 
 
Viewpoint 6 – Taken from the Lower Land Level of 20/02030/REMM 
 

 
It is considered that the mast shown in the two above images is at a height of around 10 metres 
above the ground level with this mast being on ground which is level with the rail line at around 
157.73 metres AOD (i.e. the top of the mast would be 167.73 metres AOD). This mast is around 
71 metres from plot 34 (being the closest plot under 20/02030/REMM). 
 
It is outlined in the ‘Proposals and Background’ section of this report above that the FFLs of 
units 1 to 5 would be between 158.65 metres AOD (unit 5) to 158.66 metres AOD (units 1 to 4) 
with the units having overall heights of 8.95 metres (i.e. unit 5 would be 167.60 metres AOD and 
units 1 to 4 would be 167.61 metres AOD). Unit 1 would be the closest unit to the western site 
boundary with unit 5 set the furthest from the same boundary with the units being arranged so 
as to ‘swing away’ from the western site boundary. 
 
Condition 10 of the permission granted under 20/02030/REMM related to the finished floor 
levels of the dwellings to be constructed to the west and this condition has been discharged 
under application reference 21/01762/DIS. Based on the approved information, the FFLs of the 

56



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

units would be 3.46 to 3.47 metres higher than the FFL of plot 30 (the plot with the highest FFL) 
and 7.66 to 7.67 metres higher than the FFL of plot 155 (the plot with the lowest FFL). The 
overall height of the units would be 4.4 metres to 4.5 metres higher than the ridge of plot 30 and 
8.6 metres to 8.7 metres higher than the ridge height of plot 155. 
 
Whilst acknowledging the differences in the FFLs and ridge heights of the units in comparison 
with the dwellings to be constructed to the west, the separation distance to be established would 
be around 112 metres between unit 1 and the closest plots (plots 30 to 34). The angling of the 
units would lead to the furthest unit from the western site boundary (unit 5) being around 171 
metres from plot 146/147, being the nearest plot, and 172 metres from plot 155, being the 
furthest plot. 
 
Taking into account such separation distances it is considered that units 1 to 5 would not create 
any adverse overshadowing impact, particularly as the units are predominately to the north-east 
of the dwellings, nor would any adverse overlooking impacts arise. 
 
In terms of overbearing impacts, units 1 to 5 are orientated so as to not create a continuous 
mass of development to the western site boundary with it being proposed that landscaping 
infrastructure would be established between the units and the western site boundary (as shown 
below).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

57



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

Proposed Landscaping Infrastructure 
 

 
 
It is also identified above that a landscape buffer would be provided between the residential 
development and the railway line, with such trees planted upon the embankment which exists. 
 
Although, given the topography, units 1 to 5 would appear above such landscaping 
infrastructure (trees likely to mature to a height of 8 metres), the separation distances involved 
and filtering of direct views through the landscaping, would reduce the visual massing of the 
development to a degree whereby the impacts to the future amenities of any occupants of the 
development to be constructed to the west (20/02030/REMM) would not be so adverse that a 
reason to refuse the application could be justified. 
 
In respect of the above, it is also acknowledged that certain plots on the residential development 
to the west, particularly those in the northern part of the site, would also have a similar 
relationship with the premises of QMS (plot 34 would be around 134 metres from QMS) which 
has a finished floor level of 160.94 metres AOD (i.e. 2.28 to 2.29 metres higher than the FFLs of 
units 1 to 5) and where the tallest part of the building is at a height of 173.74 metres AOD (i.e. 
over 6 metres higher than the ridge of units 1 to 5), this being based on plans associated with 
application reference 11/00649/FUL.  Permission has also been granted for an additional unit on 
the QMS site (under 21/00493/FULM) which would have a finished floor level of 166.35 metres 

58



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

AOD and overall height of 181.35 metres AOD (i.e. over 13 metres higher than the ridge heights 
of units 1 to 5). 
 
The residential development proposed under application reference 22/01529/FULM is in outline 
form and therefore the positioning of the dwellings is subject to change. The illustrative 
masterplan (as below) shows that dwellings in the south-eastern corner of the site, the part of 
the site closest to the application site, would be orientated so as to address Grange Road or the 
railway line with a landscaping buffer likely created between the residential properties and the 
railway line.  
 
Current Illustrative Masterplan for 22/01529/FULM 
 

 
 
There would be a separation distance of around 87 metres between unit 1 and the closest 
residential property on the illustrative masterplan. However, when accounting for the fact that 
land levels rise on the northern side of Grange Road, the more direct relationship development 
under 22/01529/FULM would have with the premises of QMS and the likely landscaping buffer 
to be created, it is considered that no adverse overbearing, overshadowing or overlooking 
impacts would arise to the amenities of any future occupants. 
 
The second phase of the development is in outline form, but the ‘full’ element of the application 
seeks approval for the finished floor levels of development within the second phase which are 
proposed to range between 158.5 metres AOD and 159.72 metres. The extent of land 
associated with the second phase would be around 68 metres from the boundary of the land 
associated with the residential development to the west, with the illustrative masterplan showing 
a unit at a FFL of 158.5 metres AOD (unit 7) being placed at a distance of around 116 metres 
from plot 155 (being the closest plot). The unit at a FFL of 159.72 metres AOD (unit 6) would be 
around 179 metres from plot 155 (being the closest plot).  
 

59



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

It is considered that whilst such FFLs in the second phase would be acceptable, particularly as 
land levels rise from west to east, careful consideration would need to be given to the scale and 
layout of any unit(s) within the second phase to ensure that they are appropriately positioned 
within the site so as to not result in any adverse overbearing impacts to the amenities of any 
future occupants of the development to the west. In this respect it is considered that the overall 
height of the units within the second phase (particularly any within the western part of that 
phase) should be restricted to be no higher than those of units 1 to 5. It is also considered that 
the further provision of site sections as part of any subsequent reserved matters application for 
development in the second phase would be imperative to demonstrate the relationship which 
would be established, and a condition would require the submission of such information. 
 
On the basis of the separation distances it is considered that no adverse overshadowing 
impacts would arise from development in the second phase, and overlooking would be 
assessed once the position of windows in the unit(s) was known, albeit the separation distances 
would suggest that no adverse impacts would arise in this respect. 
 
The other aspect to consider in respect of existing and future residential amenity is any potential 
impacts arising from noise and in this respect a noise assessment (NA) has been submitted in 
support of the application which assesses noise from heavy goods vehicles (HGVs) 
movements, including arrivals, departures, loading and unloading activities, car park usage and 
fixed building services plant noise. 
 
It is outlined in the NA that the existing noise climate is dominated by vehicular activity on 
Grange Road and distant road traffic on the wider highway network. Noise from Bardon Quarry 
was also observed at the northern end of the site when road traffic was not dominant. The NA 
specifies that the noise sensitive receptors (NSRs) considered to be impacted by the proposed 
development are those to be constructed to the west of the site in connection with the 
permission granted under application reference 20/02030/REMM with NSRA being the location 
of plot 32 and NSRB being the location of plot 155. 
 
In terms of operational noise, the NA concludes that internally recommended noise levels are 
likely to be exceeded at NSRA during the night-time in both the weekday and weekend periods, 
assuming a partially open window, but would be met at NSRB. The impact at NSRA would be 
considered ‘adverse’ and consequently mitigation would be required. Such mitigation would be 
in the form of a continuous 3.5 metre high acoustic noise barrier (which could take the form of a 
close boarded fence) installed around the ‘bend’ in the spine road to the south-west of unit 1. 
The installation of the acoustic noise barrier would reduce the impacts to ‘low’ during the night-
time period at NSRA during both the weekday and weekend periods. 
 
With regards to the noise from additional vehicular movements on the highway network these 
are assessed within the NA to result in a negligible impact during the daytime and night-time 
periods, in both the short and long term, and therefore would not require any form of mitigation. 
 
In the absence of detailed information on the external plant and services to be installed, which 
would be dependent on the ‘use’ operated from the units, the NA outlines that it would be 
appropriate to specify a suitable cumulative noise level limit to which any plant should conform. 
The NA indicates that this should be of a level which is either less than or equal to the prevailing 
background noise levels so as to demonstrate a ‘low’ impact. In this particular instance this 
would be a rating level of 40 decibels (dB) during the daytime and 36dB during the night-time, 
with this limit applying at least 3.5 metres from the external façade of the NSRs.  
 
 

60



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

Given the absence of precise information, it is considered reasonable and necessary that a 
condition is imposed requiring the details of any external plant and services, and including their 
noise specification, to be submitted so that the noise associated with this element of the 
development can be appropriately considered and mitigated where necessary. 
 
As part of the consideration of the application the Council’s Environmental Protection Team 
have been consulted and they have raised no objections based on the conclusions reached in 
the NA subject to the imposition of a condition which would secure the proposed mitigation 
measure. 
 
No specific details in relation to external lighting have been submitted as part of the application 
and consequently it is considered that the imposition of a condition would ensure that precise 
details are provided at an appropriate time so as to ensure that no adverse impacts to future 
residential amenities arise as a result of the provision of such lighting. 
 
Overall it considered that the proposal would be compliant with Policy Ec2(2)(c) (insofar as it 
relates to residential amenity) and Policy D2 of the adopted Local Plan as well as Paragraph 
185 of the NPPF. 
 
Assessment of objections in relation to residential amenities 
 
Objection Response 
The proposal will result in further building 
disruption. 
 

Construction is a temporary manifestation of 
any development project which is not for the 
planning system to control unless there is 
exceptional amenity harm. In the 
circumstances that the Council’s 
Environmental Protection team have no 
objections, it is considered that no adverse 
impacts would arise in this respect which 
would require mitigation. 
 

The proposed development does not 
integrate with the residential development 
being undertaken on Grange Road and is 
too close to the residential development. 
Significant areas of green space should be 
accommodated between industrial and 
residential development. 
 

A landscaping buffer is to be created between 
the residential development to the west of the 
site as permitted under application reference 
20/02028/REM. The proposed development 
would also provide landscaping mitigation, in 
the form of woodland planting, to its western 
boundary so as to further mitigate the impacts 
to future residential amenities.  
 
The proposed development is not materially 
different to the industrial development of QMS 
to the immediate north of the site, with 
industrial development at Bardon Hill Industrial 
Estate to the south and new employment 
development to the east of Regs Way. In this 
context the area is a mix of residential and 
commercial. 
 

The application site represents the last 
pocket on countryside on the eastern side 

The right to or loss of a view is not a material 
planning consideration which can be taken into 

61



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

of the parish that has not been developed 
and this ‘green lung’ provides open aspect 
views and offers a buffer from Industrial to 
Residential. Residents are likely to have 
major concerns about the development and 
will not enjoy the views from their homes 
particularly as the units are 8 metres in 
height. 
 

account in the assessment of the application. 
It is also considered that existing industrial 
development is not buffered from residential 
development given the premises of QMS is 
immediately adjacent to built development 
associated with South-East Coalville.  
 
Green infrastructure would also be largely 
retained on the site and reinforced with 
additional planting which will help to maintain 
an aspect of a ‘green lung’. When balanced 
with other material considerations the loss of 
the land for employment development would 
not justify a refusal of the application. 
 

The proposal provides for a 10 metre wide 
landscaping strip. There is a major concern 
as the site is proposing 5 medium sized 
units and there is a phase 2 proposal in the 
plans for 1 larger unit or maybe 2 large 
which will be placed upon raised 
earthworks to accommodate them. These 
units being 8 metres high on heightened 
earthworks will require mature trees to 
screen the site. 
 

The impacts in connection with the scale, 
appearance and layout of the units in phase 2 
(the ‘outline’ element of the application) are 
matters to be assessed as part of a reserved 
matters application.  
 
Whilst the development in phase 1 (the ‘full’ 
element of the application) will have finished 
floor levels higher than those of the residential 
properties the overall height of such units is 
not excessive and will not be higher than the 
development at QMS which is at a higher land 
level. The proposed landscaping mitigation is 
a means of reducing the visual impacts of the 
development more than a means of 
‘screening’ the development in its entirety.  
 
As is the case above, other material 
considerations would also weigh in favour of 
the development. 

 
Air Quality 
 
The application is accompanied by an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) with the Coalville Air 
Quality Management Area (AQMA), at a distance of around 1200 metres from the site, being the 
closest AQMA to the application site. 
 
The AQA states that the impacts from dust emissions associated with the construction phase of 
the proposed development have the potential for a ‘medium’ impact at the 12 sensitive 
receptors identified without mitigation. However, the AQA recommends measures for inclusion 
within a dust management plan (DMP) to minimise emissions during construction activities with 
the implementation of a DMP reducing the impacts to ‘not significant’ in accordance with the 
Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) ‘Guidance on the Assessment of Dust from 
Demolition and Construction’. The provision and subsequent implementation of a DMP would be 
conditioned on any permission to be granted. 
 
In terms of the impacts associated with road traffic emissions from the operation of the 

62



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

development, the AQA has concluded that such impacts would be ‘negligible’ to the sensitive 
receptors, with no exceedance of relevant air quality objectives, and consequently no mitigation 
would be required in this respect. Whilst no mitigation is specifically necessary the AQA does 
recommend that the implementation of measures to promote sustainable transport could reduce 
the mean roadside concentrations of traffic-related pollutants. It is concluded in the ‘Highway 
Safety’ section of this report below that a travel plan would be secured via condition which will 
assist in this respect. 
 
As part of the consideration of the application the Council’s Environmental Protection Team 
have been consulted and have raised no objections to the application. 
 
In the above circumstances the proposed development is considered to be compliant with Policy 
En6 of the adopted Local Plan and Paragraph 186 of the NPPF. 
 
Design 
 
The need for good design in new development is outlined not only in adopted Local Plan Policy 
D1, as well as the Council’s Adopted Good Design for NWLDC SPD, but also Policy G3 of the 
Hugglescote and Donington Le Heath Neighbourhood Plan (HDLHNP) and Paragraphs 126 and 
130 of the NPPF. 
 
The impacts of the proposed development to the character and appearance of the landscape is 
undertaken in the ‘Principle of Development’ section of this report above and where it is 
determined that the proposal would be compliant with criterion (i) of Policy S3 and criterion (c) of 
Policy Ec2(2) (insofar as it relates to impacts on the wider environment). 
 
As part of the consideration of the application the Council’s Urban Designer has been consulted 
and the concerns raised focused on the following four matters: 
 

1) How the development would be perceived from Grange Road 
 
In the above respect it was noted that the ‘full’ element of the application would result in units 1 
to 4 facing south-west and unit 5 facing south-east and therefore they would ‘turn away’ from 
Grange Road and the Birch Tree roundabout. Consequently, it was important to consider how 
the development would be viewed from these points particularly as the elevations presented to 
Grange Road would be devoid of windows. In this respect the Council’s Urban Designer 
suggested the provision of more mature planting within the soft landscaping scheme so as to 
effectively screen the elevations. 
 
The visual impact of the proposed substation adjacent to the vehicular access off Grange Road 
also needed to be carefully considered. 
 

2) The arrangement of the buildings 
 
The Council’s Urban Designer identified that the design proposals referred to the importance of 
a quality public realm and the need to appreciate the spaces between the buildings. It was 
noted that the arrangement resulted in units 1 to 4 addressing the internal spine road (and each 
other) whilst unit 5 faced away from the other units. This consequently resulted in an awkward 
relationship with the north-western elevation of unit 5 which presented a blank elevation to the 
internal spine road. 
 
 

63



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

3) Landscape Approach 
 
The Council’s Urban Designer identified that whilst there would not be an insignificant amount of 
landscaping surrounding the proposals, it was considered that more could be done to draw 
landscaping up to the access road and set the units back behind a green verge, particularly 
given the introduction of boundary fencing. 
 
The introduction of permeable surface treatments to the lighter load areas of the car parking 
areas would also be welcomed. 
 

4) Architectural Approach 
 
The Council’s Urban Designer has outlined that the approach is simple and whilst the use of 
‘timber effect’ material as a nod to the National Forest is welcomed it is considered that this 
could go further. 
 
How the materials work together within the respective planes of the 
piers/cladding/windows/spandrel panels also needed to be understood as there was concern 
that the building could appear flat. 
 
From the perspective of the National Forest Company (NFC) they have also welcomed the 
inclusion of timber effect cladding but would prefer actual timber cladding. Whilst noting such a 
request it is noted that employment development constructed in the immediate area, including 
that to the immediate north (21/00493/FULM) and east (18/01890/OUTM and 20/02029/REMM) 
utilises timber effect cladding and consequently it is not a necessity that actual timber cladding 
is utilised. It is also the case that the landscaping infrastructure would serve to provide the 
development with a National Forest identity. There would therefore be no justification to refuse 
the application due to the materials of construction. 
 
Amendments 
 
The plans were subsequently amended which have resulted in a more rational arrangement to 
the elevations and have assisted in articulating the ‘definition’ between the individual units and 
also provided greater emphasis to the entrances. A series of piers were also introduced to the 
blank gable elevations, and including the north-western elevation of unit 5, with the elevation 
plans demonstrating that the piers would project 150mm so as to offer variation to the elevation 
and avoid it appearing flat. Such piers would also provide shadow and articulation to the 
elevations. 
 
Further sections (as below) were also provided by the applicant to demonstrate how the 
proposed landscaping would screen the north-eastern elevations of the units in views from 
Grange Road and the Birch Tree roundabout over a 2, 5 and 10 year period with landscaping at 
the 2 year period still providing an effective screening of such elevations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

64



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

Site Section Through Grange Road Showing Planting 
 

 
 
The approach to soft landscaping would also seek to provide effective screening of the 
proposed sub-station, as well as the pump-station to the south-east of unit 5. 
 
Following re-consultation with the Council’s Urban Designer they have advised that concerns 1), 
2) and 4) have been appropriately addressed.  
 
In terms of concern 3), additional soft landscaping, in the form of tree planting, has been 
introduced around the entrance road as well as to the north-eastern and south-western 
boundaries. It remains the case, however, that soft landscaping has not been introduced to the 
frontage boundaries of the units. 
 
The applicant has advised that they have explored the option of landscaping to the frontage 
boundaries, but this has been discounted given that the growing space required for a hedgerow 
impacts on the off-street parking provision which would then be below a level required by the 
applicant (as well as the County Highways Authority). Furthermore heavy goods vehicles 
(HGVs) and private cars would access the units through the frontage boundaries and 
consequently this would limit the length of hedgerow which could be planted, given the width of 
vehicular accesses required, and would also result in such hedging being split into four sections 
given the location of the vehicular accesses. 
 
Whilst such hedging would not be accommodated to the frontage of the units, it is accepted that 
substantial landscaping infrastructure would be provided/retained as part of the development 
and careful consideration can be given to the boundary treatments which would be provided 
adjacent to the internal access road, as well as the approach to hard landscaping within the 
boundaries of the plots, so as to soften their appearance. In such circumstances the partial 
conflict with concern 3) would not justify a refusal of the application. 
 
There is a need for an acoustic screen measuring 44 metres in length with a height of 3.5 
metres to be provided within the western part of the site, so as to mitigate the impacts of noise 
(as discussed in the ‘Residential Amenity’ section of this report above). Whilst it is accepted that 
such an acoustic screen would have a substantial visual presence, it is indicated that such 
impacts would be mitigated by the provision of soft landscaping which will include native 
hedgerow planting and tree planting. Over time the visual impacts would be mitigated to an 

65



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

acceptable level so as to not justify a refusal of the application particularly as such an acoustic 
screen is necessary to make the development acceptable in relation to the amenities of future 
occupants of the dwellings to be constructed to the west. 
 
With regards to other matters the NFC have outlined that low carbon construction techniques 
and technologies should feature in the development. The submitted design and access 
statement specifies that low and zero carbon technologies will be reviewed and refined by 
individual occupiers and therefore there is the potential for such features to be incorporated into 
the development. In the absence of precise information it is considered reasonable to impose a 
condition which requires a scheme of renewable technologies for the units to be submitted for 
approval noting that the applicant has recently built out the scheme to the east of Regs Way 
which has recently installed solar panels on the buildings (application reference 
22/01649/NMA). Such an approach would also be consistent with criteria (a), (f), (g) and (o) of 
Policy G3 of the HDLHNP. 
  
In terms of the ‘outline’ element of the application is noted that the scale, layout and appearance 
of the units to be created are reserved for subsequent approval and therefore would be subject 
to detailed consideration as part of a reserved matters application. The approach to the design 
should be reflective of the approach to the ‘full’ element of the application, as discussed above, 
and a note to the applicant would be imposed to advise of this fact. It is also considered that 
consideration should be given to the introduction of a soft landscaping buffer between the 
highway and the frontage boundaries of the units, as well as landscaping within the car parking 
areas given the indicative scale of such features on the masterplan. This would also be advised 
in a note to the applicant. 
 
Overall the approach to design would be considered acceptable and compliant with Policies D1 
and En3 of the adopted Local Plan, criteria (a), (f), (g) and (o) of Policy G3 of the made 
HDLHNP and Paragraphs 126 and 130 of the NPPF. 
 
Highway Safety 
 
A transport assessment (TA) and travel plan (TP) have been submitted, and amended, and as 
part of the consideration of the application consultation has been undertaken with the County 
Highways Authority (CHA) and National Highways (NH). The consultation response of the CHA 
takes into account the information outlined within the Leicestershire Highways Design Guide 
(LHDG). 
 
Criterion (b) of Policy Ec2(2) of the adopted Local Plan specifies that development proposed in 
accordance with this policy will be considered favourably subject to the proposal: 
 
“Having good access to the strategic highway network (M1, M42/A42 and A50) and an 
acceptable impact on the capacity of that network, including any junctions.” 
 
Site Access and Internal Highway 
 
A new vehicular access (priority controlled T-Junction) into the site from Grange Road would be 
formed so as to serve the development. Such an access would have a gradient of 1:30 for the 
first 10 metres behind the highway boundary and visibility splays compatible with the speed of 
traffic on the highway. Suitable swept path analysis has also been undertaken to demonstrate 
that the largest vehicles entering and leaving the site could do so in a manner which is deemed 
appropriate to the CHA. 
 

66



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

Although the visibility splay to the west of the site access would be slightly obstructed by the 
presence of the existing pole for the wigwag signal at the level crossing, the CHA have noted 
that the Stage 1 Road Safety Audit (RSA) has identified the need for the existing wigwag signals 
to be replaced so as to address a problem (no.1) within the RSA. In this circumstance there 
would be an opportunity for the pole to be relocated outside of the visibility splay which is 
acceptable to the CHA. 
 
The proposed internal spine road, which forms part of the ‘full’ element of the application, is also 
acceptable to the CHA. 
 
Subject to conditions the CHA have no objections to the proposed vehicular access. 
 
Impact on the Wider Highway Network 
 
The proposed development would generate around 70 two-way vehicle movements in the AM 
peak hours and 73 two-way vehicle movements in the PM peak hours. This traffic is assigned to 
the highway network, and the impact of the additional trips (when considered with committed 
development in the area – including the development of the South-East Coalville Sustainable 
Urban Extension (SUE) and employment development at land to the east of Regs Way) have 
been considered at the following study area junctions: 
 

- Site access junction onto Grange Road; and 
- A511 Birch Tree roundabout junction. 

 
In assessing the application the CHA have identified that the site access junction onto Grange 
Road would operate within capacity but that the A511 Birch Tree roundabout junction would be 
anticipated to operate slightly over capacity in the future assessment year of 2027. In this 
respect the TA identifies that delays at this junction would be increased by 1 to 2 seconds, but 
the CHA acknowledge this delay could be higher given the number of light vehicles which would 
likely travel east on Grange Road towards the roundabout rather than travelling west. 
 
Although this impact has been identified the CHA have advised that the cumulative effects of 
development on the highway network within the Coalville Area has been assessed and a 
significant mitigation package of network improvements are planned to safeguard against rates 
of deterioration and optimise traffic flow, whilst maintaining safety on the A511 (this being known 
as the Coalville Transport Strategy). This strategy would also provide walking, cycling and bus 
service improvements. 
 
As such the CHA consider that the impact of the development on the highway network could be 
mitigated by the developer making a reasonable and proportionate financial contribution 
towards the improvement works to the above junctions in keeping with the Coalville Contribution 
Strategy. This contribution would total £178,889.71 which the applicant has agreed to pay. 
 
Although the CHA have noted that there would be 34 (in the AM peak hours) and 36 (in the PM 
peak hours) two-way vehicle movements assigned to Grange Road west, it is considered by the 
CHA that this would represent a ‘worst-case’ scenario and therefore it was not necessary for a 
junction capacity assessment to be undertaken on the roundabout constructed to the west of the 
site on Grange Road (known as the ‘Coalville Deathstar island’). 
 
National Highways have also raised no objections and as such there is no adverse impacts to 
the strategic highway network. 
 

67



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

Highway Safety 
 
The CHA has noted that there have been 7 recorded personal injury collisions (PICs) within 500 
metres of the site within the last 5 years and current year to date, with two of the PICs being 
recorded as ‘serious’ in severity (one on Regs Way in 2020 and one on Grange Road 
(approximately 420 metres to the west of the site) in 2019) and the other five being ‘slight’ in 
severity (all occurring at the Birch Tree roundabout).  
 
When considering the circumstances of the ‘serious’ incidents the CHA are of the view that they 
are isolated incidents, with there being no pattern to the ‘slight’ incidents, and consequently the 
proposed development would not exacerbate the likelihood of further such incidents occurring. 
 
Accessibility of the Site 
 
It is considered that the site would have good public transport links given that bus services run 
along Regs Way and Bardon Road (A511) with relevant bus stops associated with these 
services being within appropriate walking distances. Accessibility to these stops would be 
achieved via existing footways on Grange Road, Regs Way and Bardon Road (A511), some of 
which are designed to cater for both pedestrians and cyclists. The CHA have also requested 
that a financial contribution is secured so as to upgrade the two bus stops on Bardon Road 
(opposite and adjacent to the Birch Tree Public House) which would total £8,000 (£4,000 per 
stop). 
 
A travel plan has also been submitted in support of the application which has the objective of 
minimising the number of new car trips generated by staff and visitors to and from the 
development by promoting and supporting the use of alternative modes of travel (walking, 
cycling, public transport and car sharing). The plan includes targets as well as measures and 
incentives to achieve the targets and methods for monitoring the travel patterns to the site. The 
CHA have confirmed that the travel plan is acceptable and should be conditioned on any 
permission granted, a travel plan monitoring contribution of £11,337.50 is also requested by the 
CHA so as to enable them to ensure the travel plan is implemented successfully. 
 
Parking Provision 
 
In terms of the units to be constructed as part of the ‘full’ element of the application the CHA 
have determined that the level of off-street parking, for both light vehicles and heavy goods 
vehicles (HGVs), would be acceptable and in accordance with the LHDG and would be secured 
via condition. The introduction of electric vehicle charging points, as outlined in the TA, would 
also be welcomed by the CHA (this also being in line with criterion (g) of Policy G3 of the 
Hugglescote and Donington Le Heath Neighbourhood Plan). 
 
The CHA have also specified that cycle parking associated with the ‘full element’ of the 
application should be conditioned on any permission granted in the circumstances that the 
nature of the cycle parking is not explicit within the information which accompanies the 
application, albeit there is sufficient space to accommodate cycle parking in accordance with the 
LHDG. 
 
With regards to the off-street parking (including cycle parking) associated with the ‘outline’ 
element of the application, this would be dependent on their floor space which is not to be 
determined at this time. As such an assessment in relation to the off-street parking associated 
with the ‘outline’ element would be undertaken at the reserved matters stage when the 
proposed level of floor space is known. Given the overall site area connected with the ‘outline’ 

68



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

element of the application there would be sufficient land available to ensure an appropriate level 
of off-street parking is provided. 
 
Off-Site Highway Works 
 
The CHA have noted that uncontrolled tactile crossing points would be provided to enable 
pedestrian connections to the northern side of Grange Road, located to the east and west of the 
proposed vehicular access, which are acceptable to the CHA and would be conditioned on any 
permission granted. 
 
The closure of an existing access is also welcomed by the CHA and would also be conditioned. 
 
Level Crossing 
 
The CHA have noted that Network Rail have no objections to the application, as is outlined in 
the ‘Network Rail’ section of this report below, subject to the applicant applying for a Level 
Crossing Order (LCO) so as to implement yellow hatched markings on the crossing and 
undertake the mitigation measures outlined in the TA and Stage 1 RSA (which comprise the 
provision of additional warning signage opposite the proposed site access and amendments to 
the wigwag signals). Such works would be acceptable from the perspective of the CHA although 
the costs associated with the LCO, and mitigation measures, would be payable by the applicant. 
 
Highway Conclusion 
 
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF outlines that development should only be refused on highway 
grounds where “there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.” As outlined above the CHA and 
National Highways have no objection to the application subject to the imposition of conditions 
and the securing of a payment for highway improvement works in line with the Coalville 
Transport Strategy and Coalville Contribution Strategy. Furthermore the CHA would also 
request Section 106 contributions towards travel packs, bus passes, monitoring of the travel 
plan and improvements to the two nearest bus stops on Bardon Road (A511). 
 
Subject to the above being secured the proposal would accord with Policies Ec2(2)(b), IF4 and 
IF7 of the adopted Local Plan as well as criterion (d) of Policy G3 of the made Hugglescote and 
Donington Le Heath Neighbourhood Plan and Paragraphs 107, 109, 110 and 111 of the NPPF. 
 
Assessment of the objections received in relation to highway safety 
 
Objection Response 
The positioning of the access is 
unacceptable as it is too close to the rail 
crossing where traffic backs up when the 
barriers are down, this would prevent 
vehicles entering or leaving the site. 
 

See above assessment. The County Highways 
Authority (CHA) have no objections to the 
vehicular access including its positioning in 
relation to the level crossing. For their part 
Network Rail also have no objections. 
 

The proposed access and egress is in 
close proximity to the operational mineral 
rail line and the railway crossing is 
dangerous. 
 
The proposal will increase traffic on See above assessment. There is no objections 

69



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

Grange Road and will also impact on traffic 
entering and leaving the site. 
 

from the CHA in relation to the impacts on the 
highway network with it being the case that 
industrial traffic would already utilise Grange 
Road so as to access the premises of QMS. 
The positioning of the proposed vehicular 
access is in close proximity to that associated 
with QMS, with the likely movement of 
vehicles associated with the site (particularly 
lorries) being eastwards towards the A511. 
 

Grange Road is utilised by commuters and 
will become more heavily used with the 
ongoing residential development; it is not 
suitable for logistics development. 
 

The position on Grange Road will 
encourage heavy goods vehicles (HGVs) to 
use Grange Road and Ashburton Road. 
HGVs on Grange Road are already an issue 
and Ashburton Road is subject to a weight 
restriction which is not suitably enforced. 
 

Given the location of the site in relation to the 
A511, and its subsequent connections to the 
strategic road network of the M1 and A42, 
HGVs are unlikely to utilise Grange Road or 
Ashburton Road as such routes would not be 
convenient and, in any event, there is a weight 
restriction in place. The enforcement of a 
weight restriction would be a police matter. 

 
Network Rail 
 
A railway line and the Bardon Hill Level Crossing (situated on Grange Road) exist to the 
immediate west of the site and as part of the consideration of the application Network Rail have 
been consulted. 
 
Following an assessment of the submitted details Network Rail have raised no objections 
provided that the level crossing mitigation measures detailed within the submitted transport 
assessment are implemented. Certain aspects of the mitigation, including revisions to the 
crossing layout (such as yellow box markings) and installation of additional warning signage, 
would require the submission of a Level Crossing Order (LCO) which is a process undertaken 
separately to the planning process. Network Rail have indicated that costs would be incurred as 
a result of the submission of an LCO and installation of signage and have therefore requested 
that such costs are secured within any Section 106 agreement. 
 
Network Rail have also requested that the following be conditioned: 
 

- A construction methodology to ensure that any construction works can be undertaken 
safely and without impact to operational railway safety. 

- A surface water drainage scheme to ensure that surface water runoff does not impact on 
or cause damage to the adjacent railway assets. 

- The installation of trespass proof fencing. 
- The installation of vehicle incursion measures, such as an Armco barrier, to ensure that 

vehicles do not drive or roll into or onto the railway or cause damage to the lineside 
fencing. 

- The approval of an appropriate soft landscaping scheme which discourages the use of 
certain species of trees and plants in order to ensure there is no impact on operational 
railway safety. 

- The approval of an appropriate lighting scheme so as to ensure that train drivers are not 
dazzled by such lighting and prevent confusion to the signalling arrangements on the 
railway. 

 
It is considered that the imposition of such conditions, on any permission to be granted, would 

70



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

enable appropriate details to be submitted which could be considered further by Network Rail to 
ensure that the operation and integrity of the railway is not impacted on as a result of the 
development. On this basis the development would be acceptable in relation to the impacts to 
railway safety. 
 
The British Transport Police have also raised no objection to the application subject to the 
installation of fencing, as also required by Network Rail, so as to prevent trespass onto the 
railway. As is indicated above such a condition would be imposed on any planning permission to 
be granted. 
 
Ecology 
 
Vegetation, in the form of trees and hedges, are present on the site. Such features could be 
used by European Protected Species (EPS) or national protected species. As EPS may be 
affected by a planning application, the Local Planning Authority has a duty under regulation 9(5) 
of the Habitats Regulations 2010 to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats Directive in 
the exercise of its functions. 
 
As part of the consideration of the application the County Council Ecologist has been consulted 
and they have raised no concerns in principle with this proposal given that the land is in arable 
use and of low wildlife value, and that the adjacent River Sence and Local Wildlife Site (LWS) 
(Bardon Industrial Estates and Grassland LWS) would not be affected.  
 
The County Council Ecologist also considers that the submitted preliminary ecological 
assessment is acceptable and that the biodiversity and landscape assessment enhancements 
and mitigations identified should be conditioned. Such enhancements and mitigations would 
relate to badgers, otters, water voles, bats, birds, amphibians, reptiles, invertebrates and 
hedgehogs. In particular there would need to be precautionary working and pre-construction 
checks in relation to badgers given badger activity in the area and the location of a main sett 
(albeit the main sett would not be directly impacted). 
 
In terms of biodiversity net gain (BNG), it is noted that the mandatory requirement for 10% BNG 
has not yet been enacted through the Environment Bill (expected 2023) but Paragraph 174(d) 
and Paragraph 180(d) of the NPPF set out a requirement to minimise impacts on and provide 
net gains for biodiversity. The BNG calculation submitted in support of the application 
demonstrate that the development would provide a net gain of 16.3% for habitat biodiversity 
units, 286.62% for hedgerow biodiversity units and 20.8% for river biodiversity units. The County 
Council Ecologist has reviewed the BNG calculations and has confirmed that they are 
acceptable and demonstrate a significant net gain. Conditions would be imposed to ensure that 
the approach to BNG is delivered on the site along with the provision of an ecological 
management plan. 
 
Overall, and subject to the imposition of conditions, the proposal would accord with Policy En1 
of the adopted Local Plan, Policy ENV6 of the made Hugglescote and Donington Le Heath 
Neighbourhood Plan, Paragraphs 174 and 180 of the NPPF and Circular 06/05. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

71



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
Assessment of objections received in relation to ecology 
 
Objection Response 
There will be displaced wildlife and 
destruction of habitat as a result of the 
development. 
 

See above assessment. There is no objection 
from the County Council Ecologist and the 
means of mitigating the impact to ecology will 
be appropriately conditioned on any 
permission granted. There would also be a 
substantial net gain to biodiversity. 
 

The landscaping will need to be designed 
to accommodate wildlife for example 
badger runs, owl boxes and bird boxes 
given that nature has been lost since 
developments have been undertaken as 
part of the South-East Coalville extension. 
 

See above assessment. The ecological 
mitigation will include features which will 
provide for the identified species. 

 
Landscaping 
 
A tree survey and arboricultural impact assessment (AIA) submitted in support of the application 
demonstrates that 8 groups of trees and one hedgerow group is present on the site with such 
landscaping being predominately to the site boundary (one group of trees (G5) runs east to west 
parallel to the southern site boundary).   
 
The Council’s Tree Officer has reviewed the submitted AIA and has confirmed that it accords 
with the recommendations of BS 5837:2012 (Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and 
Construction to Construction – Recommendations). In the circumstances that the land is an 
arable field with trees/vegetation limited to its boundaries the Council’s Tree Officer has 
indicated that the impacts to existing trees would be relatively minor with only a short section of 
hedgerow required to be removed to facilitate the provision of the vehicular access.  
 
It is considered, by the Council’s Tree Officer, that the loss of such hedgerow would not result in 
significant arboricultural loss and replacement planting as part of the development’s landscaping 
scheme would provide suitable mitigation. 
 
In terms of tree protection measures, the Council’s Tree Officer has outlined that such 
measures were acceptable with the exception of an area in the south-western corner of the site 
where an outfall from the sustainable urban drainage (SuDS) basin to the River Sence would 
pass through a group of trees (identified as G5) and may potentially require tree removals and 
excavations to be undertaken. The tree protection plan (TPP) and arboricultural method 
statement (AMS) did not cover such works in this area of the site. Following the receipt of an 
amended AIA, which includes the amended TPP and AMS, the Council’s Tree Officer has 
confirmed that their concerns have been addressed. Conditions would be imposed on any 
permission granted to ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the TPP and 
AMS. 
 
In terms of the soft landscaping proposals the Council’s Tree Officer has confirmed that the 
approach taken would be acceptable from an arboricultural perspective but that advice from the 
National Forest Company (NFC) and County Council Ecologist should be sought in respect of 
the suitability of the planting for this area. 

72



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
The NFC have outlined that, based on the site area, there would a requirement for 0.77 
hectares of National Forest planting to provided. It is noted by the NFC that the submitted 
design and access statement indicates that 1.6 hectares of National Forest planting would be 
delivered on site which would be welcomed. A landscape masterplan, relating to the whole site, 
and a phase 1 planting plan have been submitted and the NFC consider the details on the 
phase 1 planting plan to be acceptable. In terms of the landscape masterplan the NFC note 
that, in addition to the landscaping, the plans shows the provision of a walking route around the 
buildings and benches and the NFC consider that the delivery of these indicative details would 
contribute to the overall success of the scheme. 
 
Overall, the NFC have no objections subject to conditions which would secure the 
implementation of the phase 1 landscaping plan, the submission of a landscape management 
plan (applicable to the site as a whole) and that the future reserved matters application 
demonstrates that the 20% National Forest requirement is met and conforms with the landscape 
management plan (including the provision of the circular walkway and seating areas). 
 
For their part the County Council Ecologist also supports the soft landscaping proposals. 
 
It is also identified, above in the ‘Network Rail’ section of this report, that certain species of trees 
and plants would need to be avoided in the soft landscaping scheme so as to prevent any 
impacts arising to the operational safety of the rail line to the west of the site. In this respect the 
proposed soft landscaping scheme comprises tree species which are on the acceptable ‘list’ for 
Network Rail. 
 
In terms of hard landscaping the plans are not clear on the type of surfacing which would be 
utilised to form the service yards, parking and pathways for the units nor the internal highway 
(albeit this is likely to be tarmacadam) associated with the ‘full’ part of the application and 
consequently a condition would be imposed to secure precise details. Hard landscaping is 
reserved for subsequent approval on the part of the site which comprises the ‘outline’ part of the 
application. It is also considered that an approach to hard landscaping could be brought forward 
which accords with criterion (m) of Policy G3 of the made Hugglescote and Donington Le Heath 
Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
Overall the proposal would be compliant with Policies D1, En1 and En3 of the adopted Local 
Plan and Policy ENV6 of the made Hugglescote and Donington Le Heath Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
Drainage and Flood Risk 
 
The application site, as defined by the red line on the site location plan, comprises land which is 
predominately within Flood Zone 1 (low risk of fluvial flooding) although land around the ordinary 
watercourse (River Sence), within the southern part of the site, does fall within Flood Zones 2 
and 3. The application site is also at a low risk of surface water flooding, as defined by the 
Environment Agency’s Surface Water Flood Maps, with there again being an exception for land 
around the ordinary watercourse where there is a higher risk of surface water flooding. A flood 
risk assessment (FRA) and drainage strategy (DS) have been submitted in support of the 
application. 
 
As part of the consideration of the application the Environment Agency (EA) have been 
consulted and they have advised that although a small section of the application site does fall 
within Flood Zone 3 all of the built development is contained to Flood Zone 1. Consequently the 
EA have no fluvial flood risk concerns associated with the site. 

73



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
For their part the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) have confirmed that a positive discharge 
into the ordinary watercourse can be established within the confines of the site and this would 
be acceptable subject to an ordinary watercourse consent being granted by the LLFA, this 
would be pursued under separate legislation outside of the planning application process. 
 
It is proposed that the sustainable urban drainage (SuDS) system would comprise a detention 
basin and pervious paving, as outlined in the FRA and DS. The LLFA advised that the utilisation 
of a SuDS treatment train would be encouraged, with a minimum of two types of techniques 
used, so as to change the flow and characteristics of the surface water run-off in stages. 
Surface water exceedance plans also demonstrate that pre and post-development exceedance 
flows across the site are directed away from all existing and proposed built development with 
such plans being acceptable to the LLFA. 
 
The FRA and DS also provide a surface water catchment plan which highlights the contributing 
areas, to the surface water runoff, and the assumed percentage imperviousness within the 
contributing area is stated to be 100%. Updated calculations to include sensitivity testing of a 
10% increase in impermeable areas, so as to demonstrate the above, have also been provided 
and are acceptable to the LLFA. Drainage runs and filter drains are also demonstrated within 
the DS and are acceptable to the LLFA. 
 
Taking the above into account the LLFA have no objections to the application subject to the 
imposition of conditions which would secure the surface water drainage scheme, the means of 
controlling surface water during the construction phase and the future maintenance and 
management arrangements for the surface water drainage scheme. 
 
It is considered that the imposition of such conditions would ensure the development would not 
exacerbate any localised flooding impact and therefore it would be compliant with Policies Cc2 
and Cc3 of the adopted Local Plan as well as criteria (q) and (s) of the made Hugglescote and 
Donington Le Heath Neighbourhood Plan and Paragraphs 167 and 169 of the NPPF. The 
agreement of a precise surface water drainage scheme would also address the requirements of 
Network Rail, as outlined in the ‘Network Rail’ section of this report above, with it being noted 
that a surface water connection into Network Rail’s drainage infrastructure would not be 
proposed. 
 
In terms of foul drainage, the drainage strategy indicates that this would discharge to the public 
combined sewer on Bardon Road (A511). So as to achieve a discharge to this sewer a private 
pumping station would be provided on the site given that a gravity connection would not be 
possible. 
 
As part of the consideration of the application no objection has been received from Severn Trent 
Water (STW) to this approach, with a connection into the public combined sewer being subject 
to a separate agreement with STW, outside of the planning process, and where STW can 
determine that sufficient capacity exists in the system to accommodate foul drainage associated 
with the development. In such circumstances there would not be an increased risk of pollution 
incidents occurring and as such the development complies with Paragraph 185 of the NPPF. A 
condition would be imposed to secure the details of the private pumping station given that no 
precise information is provided within the drainage strategy. 
 
 
 
 

74



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
Historic Environment 
 
As part of the consideration of a pre-application submission associated with the proposed 
development the Council’s Conservation Officer identified that no harm would arise to the 
setting of any heritage assets, with the nearest being the Grade II listed St Peter’s Church which 
is to the north-east of the site off the A511 (Bardon Road). 
 
In the circumstances that no harm arises to the significance of any heritage assets there is no 
requirement for an assessment in the context of Paragraph 202 of the NPPF and therefore the 
development is compliant with Policy He1 of the adopted Local Plan as well as Paragraphs 197, 
199, 200 and 202 of the NPPF. 
 
Archaeology 
 
The desk-based archaeological assessment submitted has been reviewed by the County 
Council Archaeologist who agreed with the conclusion that further archaeological works were 
necessary so as to understand the impacts of the development on any archaeological potential 
within the site. Consequently, the submission of an archaeological impact assessment (AIA) 
was requested by the County Council Archaeologist which would take the form of a geophysical 
survey. 
 
A geophysical survey subsequently submitted has provided an indication of the archaeological 
potential on the site, but the County Council Archaeologist has indicated that certain 
archaeological remains are not always visible on a geophysical survey (such as prehistoric or 
Anglo-Saxon remains). Taking this into account the County Council Archaeologist has indicated 
that the application site is of archaeological interest, however whilst such remains may be 
significant and warrant archaeological mitigation prior to the impact of the development they are 
not of such importance so as to prevent a determination of the application. In such 
circumstances the County Council Archaeologist has confirmed that the results of the 
geophysical survey are sufficient to enable a decision to be made on the application subject to a 
condition being imposed requiring further archaeological investigations (including trial trenching) 
to be undertaken prior to the development commencing and for any results to be suitably 
archived. 
 
Subject to the imposition of such a condition the proposal would comply with Policy He1 of the 
adopted Local Plan, insofar as it relates to archaeology, and Paragraph 205 of the NPPF. 
 
Contaminated Land 
 
The Council’s Land Contamination Officer has been consulted as part of the application and 
they have raised no objections and do not require the imposition of any conditions should 
planning permission be granted. 
 
On this basis it is considered that the proposed development would not result in any conflict with 
Policy En6 of the adopted Local Plan or Paragraphs 183 and 184 of the NPPF. 
 
Developer Contributions 
 
A request has been made for Section 106 contributions towards transportation and Network 
Rail. These requests have been assessed against the equivalent legislative tests contained 
within the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (CIL Regulations) as well as 

75



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

Policy IF1 of the adopted Local Plan and Paragraphs 34, 54 and 56 of the NPPF. 
 
The requested development contributions are listed below. 
 
Transportation 
 
The contributions set out under the ‘Highway Safety’ section of this report above include the 
following: 
 

(a) A financial contribution of £178,889.71 towards the improvement works in keeping with 
the Coalville Contribution Strategy; 

(b) A construction traffic routing agreement; 
(c) Travel packs (which can be supplied by the County Highways Authority (CHA) at a cost 

of £52.85 per pack); 
(d) 6 month bus passes (which can be supplied by the CHA at a cost of £360 per pass); 
(e) Travel plan monitoring contribution of £11,337.50; and 
(f) Raised kerb provision at the two nearest bus stops on A511 Bardon Road, opposite and 

adjacent the Birch Tree Public House, at a cost of £4,000 per stop (i.e. a total of £8,000) 
to support modern bus fleets with low floor capabilities.  

 
Network Rail 
 
It has been requested by Network Rail that the costs incurred in the processing of a Level 
Crossing Order (LCO), so as to the implement the mitigation measures identified in the ‘Network 
Rail’ section of this report above, be secured within the Section 106 agreement. The financial 
figure for the LCO is awaited from Network Rail and will be reported to Members in due course. 
 
These contributions are considered to meet the relevant tests identified above, and the securing 
of these contributions will assist in mitigating the impacts of the development on highway 
infrastructure and the safe operation of the rail line. 
 
No other contributions have been requested and the applicant is agreeable to paying the 
relevant contributions. 
 
Subject to these contributions being secured within a Section 106 agreement the proposed 
development would be compliant with Policy IF1 of the adopted Local Plan and Paragraphs 34, 
54 and 56 of the NPPF. 
 
Assessment of objections in relation to infrastructure 
 
Objection Response 
The infrastructure in the area (including 
highway infrastructure) is not sufficient to 
accommodate more development. 
 

See above assessment. A contribution would 
be secured to mitigate the impacts on the 
highway network via the Coalville Contribution 
Strategy, with the impacts to the railway also 
being mitigated. In addition improvements 
would be made to the two nearest bus stops 
along with the securing of a travel packs and 6 
month bus passes for employees. 
 

What infrastructure will be in place to 
accommodate the development? 
 

 
 

76



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
Leicester to Burton Rail Line 
 
The former Leicester to Burton rail line is the rail line which exists to the immediate west of the 
site. 
 
Policy IF5 of the adopted Local Plan outlines that the Council will support the provision of public 
transport services on the Leicester to Burton rail line as well as the provision of stations at 
appropriate locations, including Coalville and Ashby De La Zouch. It further states that “new 
development will not be permitted which would prejudice the route of the Leicester to Burton rail 
line.” 
 
Policy T3 of the made Hugglescote and Donington Le Heath Neighbourhood Plan (HDLHNP) 
has the same context as Policy IF5 of the adopted Local Plan and indicates that “proposals for 
development within the Plan area that threaten the integrity of the Leicester and Burton railway 
line and infrastructure for its potential re-use for public transport services will not be supported.” 
 
An objection has been received from Hugglescote and Donington Le Heath Parish Council 
stating that: 
 
“The development would take away the only feasible location for a station and car park to be 
provided in the Neighbourhood Plan area and therefore there is conflict with Policy T3 which 
supports the provision of public transport services on the former Leicester to Burton railway 
line.” 
 
Whilst noting the contents of this objection, it is considered that the development is not contrary 
to Policy T3 of the HDLHNP, or Policy IF5 of the adopted Local Plan, in the circumstances that 
both policies are specific about when development will ‘not be supported’. In this instance the 
proposal would not prejudice the route of the Leicester to Burton rail line (which would require 
development to physically cross the line), nor does it impact on infrastructure associated with 
the potential re-use of the rail line. 
 
The ’support’ aspect of both policies relate to the fact that if an application was to be received 
for a station, and infrastructure associated with a station (such as parking), then it would be 
supported in principle. Such wording cannot, therefore, be used to stifle development on land 
which has not been safeguarded for the delivery of a train station, or land which is not in the 
control of a railway operator (or the District Council or Parish Council) which would be 
necessary for such a development to be delivered. 
 
It is also the case that although work is currently taking place to look at the feasibility of 
reopening the line to passenger services, there is no firm proposal for its reopening and nor are 
there any firm proposals for the location of stations. Therefore, the application has to be judged 
on what is known and confirmed, and not conjecture for what might be. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

77



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
Other Matters 
 
Assessment of other objections 
 
Objection Response 
The proposal will impact on property values as 
a result of lorries travelling via Grange Road to 
the A42/M42. 
 

The impact of development on the value of a 
property is not a material planning 
consideration which can be taken into account 
in the assessment of the application. 
 

The development conflicts with criteria (a), (b), 
(c), (d) and (f) of Policy G2 of the 
Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

The application site does not fall within the 
South-East Coalville Development Scheme 
boundaries, as defined by Policy G2 of the 
Hugglescote and Donington Le Heath 
Neighbourhood Plan (HDLHNP), and 
consequently cannot be contrary to the aims of 
this Policy. 
 

 
Conclusion 
 
Whilst the application site is outside the defined Limits to Development Policy S3 of the adopted 
Local Plan allows for new employment development where evidence indicates an immediate 
need or demand, with such an assessment being against Part (2) of Policy Ec2 of the adopted 
Local Plan. In this instance the submitted analysis has demonstrated that there is an ‘immediate 
demand’ for the development and consequently the proposal is compliant, in principle, with 
Policies S3 and Ec2(2) of the adopted Local Plan.  
 
In terms of the core objectives of the NPPF, economically the development would represent a 
capital investment in Coalville with the site being within a sustainable location due to its close 
proximity to the Coalville Urban Area, as well as the Bardon Hill Industrial Estate. As such it 
accords with the aims of the NPPF which seeks to focus development in locations which are 
sustainable. Policy S2 of the adopted Local Plan also identifies that the Coalville Urban Area will 
take more growth than those lower down the settlement hierarchy. 
 
Socially, as well as economically, the development would contribute towards the provision of 
new jobs in the locality, within the construction and operational phases, with such employment 
opportunities being well related to areas of residential growth within the immediate area 
(including development off Bardon Road and the South-East Coalville expansion). 
 
With regards to the environmental objective, the site is within the countryside, as defined on the 
Policies Map to the adopted Local Plan, and would result in development on a greenfield site. It 
is, however, outlined above that Policy S3 of the adopted Local Plan does not preclude 
employment development being brought forward on greenfield sites should an ‘immediate 
demand’ be demonstrated in line with Policy Ec2(2). It is also the case that substantial 
landscaping infrastructure would be provided as part of the development with the development 
also resulting in a substantial biodiversity net gain.  
 
In the round, the conflict arising with the environmental objective of the NPPF as a result of the 
development of a greenfield site would be outweighed by the benefits connected with the 
economic and social objectives of the NPPF as well as the environmental mitigation proposed. 

78



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

Overall, therefore, the development would represent sustainable development. 
 
Subject to conditions it is also considered that the proposal would not have any significantly 
detrimental impacts to the character and appearance of the visual landscape, residential 
amenity, air quality, highway safety, railway safety, ecology, landscaping, the setting or heritage 
assets and archaeology, nor would the proposal exacerbate any localised flooding impact. 
There are no other relevant material planning considerations that indicate outline planning 
permission should not be granted and consequently the proposal is deemed to comply with the 
relevant policies of the adopted Local Plan, made Hugglescote and Donington Le Heath 
Neighbourhood Plan, the Council’s adopted Good Design SPD and the advice within the NPPF. 
 
It is therefore recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions, and 
subject to a planning obligation to secure the various transportation-related contributions as set 
out above. 
 
 
Date: 20th December 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 

79



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 80



OTHER MATTERS - SECTION B  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SECTION B- OTHER MATTERS 
 
 
 

 

81



OTHER MATTERS - SECTION B  

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 82



LIST OF APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING COMMITTEE 11 January 2023 

Planning Committee 11 January 2023  
Development Control Report 

 
 
 
 
Section A – Planning Applications 
Item Reference Details Amend Print Sign Sent 
A1 22/00691/REM

M 
 
 

    

A2 21/02281/FULM  
 

    

Section B – Other Matters 
Item Reference Details Amend Print Sign Sent 
 

83



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3. Minutes
	4. Planning Applications and Other Matters
	APPENDIX B

	A1 22/00691/REMM: Erection of a road related storage, maintenance and management facility and associated site works (reserved matters to outline planning permission ref. 17/01081/OUTM) (revised scheme)
	A2 21/02281/FULM: Part full/part outline planning application for the development of the site comprising site wide infrastructure works including access from (and alterations to) Grange Road, internal spine road, earthworks and development plateaus, structural landscaping, utilities infrastructure, foul and surface water drainage infrastructure (including attenuation pond and outlets). Full consent sought for the erection of 5 employment units (totalling 2,719 square metres) comprising light industry (Class E(g)(iii)), general industry (Class B2) and/or storage and distribution (Class B8) floorspace and ancillary offices (Class E(g)(i)), including associated service yards and service vehicle parking, vehicular and cycle parking, boundary treatments and retaining walls, utilities infrastructure, foul and surface water drainage infrastructure and hard/soft landscaping. Outline consent (with all matters reserved except vehicular access from Grange Road and re-grading of site) sought for up t

